

Characterizing pathogenic effector T cells in adult atopic dermatitis

Harshita Patel, B. Sc.

M.Sc. Thesis

Division of Experimental Medicine

McGill University, Montreal

June 2023

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science in Experimental Medicine

© Harshita Patel 2023

Table of Contents	
ENGLISH ABSTRACT	
FRENCH ABSTRACT	5
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS	
FIGURES & TABLES	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
INTRODUCTION	
LITERATURE REVIEW	
Epidemiology of AD	
Natural remission vs. refractory disease	
Pathogenesis of AD disease	19
Dysbiosis of the Skin Microbiome	
Immune Processes in AD Development of Type 2 responses Key Type 2 cells in AD Heterogeneity of T helper cell responses in AD Regulatory T cell responses in AD Role of IL-13 in AD	23 23 25 27 29 30
Disease Measurement of AD	
Current Treatments for AD Topical treatment, Phototherapy Systemic Treatment: Cyclosporine Biologic: Dupilumab	
Persistent T cell populations following treatment in AD	
METHODS	
Study Design	
Isolation, freezing, and thawing of peripheral blood mononuclear cells.	
In vitro T _H 2 expansion	
Extracellular and Intracellular staining	
Phosphoflow Staining	
Statistical Analysis	
RESULTS	
Circulating activated T cells and Th2 cells persist in AD patients despite on Dupilumab	e achieving clinical remission 44

	Selective modulation of CRTH2+ T_H2 cells in dupixent-treated patients is specific to the skin-homin CLA+ compartment	1g . 48
	Elevated TH2 and diminished TH1 responses are consistently observed in AD patients and patients after dupixent treatment.	. 53
	Skin-homing T cells have persistent levels of IL-13 production from AD patients after dupilumab treatment	. 54
	TSLP+SEB is sufficient to promote the expansion of IL-13 producing CD4 T cells and non- conventional CD8+IL-13+ T cells	. 59
	Skin-mimicking inflammatory conditions enriches TH2 cells from adult patients with refractory disease.	. 63
SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES		. 67
D	ISCUSSION	. 80
С	ONCLUSION	. 92
R	EFERENCES	. 93

ENGLISH ABSTRACT

Background: Atopic dermatitis is a chronic inflammatory skin disorder that follows a relapsingremitting course. While historically considered a disease limited to childhood, recent studies demonstrate lifelong persistence in a large proportion of patients. Chronic inflammation in AD is mediated by both local and systemic T_H2-associated cytokines, of which IL-13 plays a central role. Dupilumab specifically targets IL-13/IL-4 signaling to control disease. While discontinuation of traditional treatments leads to relapse, the specific immune populations and mechanisms responsible for disease reactivation remain unknown. *S.aureus* and its secreted enterotoxins are key environmental factors in AD. The impact of host–pathogen interactions in chronic T helper 2 (T_H2)-dominated inflammation in AD remains poorly understood. The long-term effects of dupilumab on the persistence of pathological IL-13⁺T cells remains to be clarified. We hypothesize that cutaneous host-pathogen factors may contribute to the persistence of pathogenic type 2 T cells following treatment with dupilumab in adult atopic dermatitis patients. In addition, we aimed to establish an *in vitro* model based on skin-derived factors relevant to AD that can replicate pathogenic type 2 T-cell and IL-13 cytokine functions in disease.

Methods: A) We performed a cross-sectional study with adults with moderate-to-severe AD, AD patients treated with dupilumab under disease remission, and age-matched healthy subjects. Cellular immunophenotyping was performed on PBMCs to identify *ex vivo* helper T cell subsets and intracellular cytokine production using multiparametric flow cytometry. **B)** PBMCs from healthy and AD patients were cultured *in vitro* for 7 days in the presence of *S. aureus*-derived superantigen (SEB) +/- thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) - conditions found in the skin of patients and known to expand IL-13⁺ TH2 cells, with the aim of determining whether we can detect TH2 associated co-stimulatory factors (ICOS, OX40), canonical transcription factors (pSTAT6, GATA3), as well as memory/activated markers (CD45RO, HLA-DR).

<u>Results:</u> A. As expected *ex vivo*, a profoundly decreased T_H1/T_H2 ratio was observed in AD patients relative to healthy subjects; notably, this persisted in a cohort of patients in remission with dupilumab-treatment. Intracellular cytokine detection demonstrated a greater proportion of CLA⁺ IL-13 and IL-4 producing cells in AD patients compared to healthy subjects. We demonstrated that patients treated with dupilumab have (persistent elevated) activated memory TH2 cells, specifically skin homing CLA⁺, compared to healthy subjects, despite minimal disease activity. A higher proportion of Treg cells were also detected in dupilumab-treated AD patients compared to healthy subjects. Notably, the level of IL-13 production (MFI) in dupilumab treated patients remains comparable to untreated AD patients, and is significantly higher compared to healthy subjects, despite decreased frequency of CD4⁺CLA⁺IL-13⁺ T cells. Using skin-mimicking inflammatory conditions, we demonstrated that TSLP and SEB are sufficient to drive IL-13 secretion and pathogenic effector type 2 T cell responses from healthy PBMCs *in vitro*, replicating AD-like cytokine and T cell functions found in patients *ex vivo*.

<u>Conclusions:</u> Our findings demonstrate that despite long-term treatment of AD patients with dupilumab, a persistent level of IL-13 production from skin-homing T cells is detected in patients, despite clinical remission. Here, we propose that residual level of IL-13 production may serve as a potential source of disease relapse in patients. In addition, we show that skin-associated factors such as TSLP and SEB can promote type 2 responses to induce IL-13 production *in vitro*, suggesting that these factors may play a role upstream in the maintenance of residual disease activity following treatment. Together, this data provides insight on pathophysiology and potential mechanisms responsible for relapse, ultimately highlighting novel potential targets for therapeutic avenues.

FRENCH ABSTRACT

Contexte: La dermatite atopique (DA) est une maladie inflammatoire chronique de la peau qui évolue par poussées et rémissions. Historiquement considérée comme une maladie limitée à l'enfance, de récentes études démontrent qu'elle persiste tout au long de la vie pour une portion considérable de patients. L'inflammation chronique dans la DA est médiée par des cytokines locales et systémiques associées aux lymphocytes T_H2, parmi lesquels l'IL-13 joue un rôle central. Le dupilumab est un médicament qui cible spécifiquement la signalisation par les cytokines IL-13 et IL-4 pour contrôler la maladie de façon efficace. Bien que la suspension des traitements traditionnels entraîne une rechute, les cellules et les mécanismes immunitaires responsables de la réactivation de la maladie restent inconnus. Le Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus) et ses entérotoxines sécrétées sont des facteurs environnementaux clés de DA. L'impact des interactions hôte-pathogène dans l'inflammation chronique dominée par les lymphocytes $T_{\rm H2}$ dans la DA reste mal compris. Les effets à long terme du dupilumab sur la persistance des lymphocytes T pathologiques IL-13⁺ restent à clarifier. Nous émettons l'hypothèse que les facteurs cutanés hôtepathogène peuvent contribuer à la persistance des cellules T de type 2 pathogéniques après un traitement avec dupilumab chez les patients adultes atteints de DA. Pour ce faire, nous avons tenté d'établir un modèle in vitro basé sur des facteurs cutanés pertinents pour la DA, afin de reproduire et d'étudier les fonctions pathogéniques des lymphocytes T de type 2 et des cytokines IL-13 dans la maladie.

<u>Méthodes:</u> A) Nous avons réalisé une étude transversale auprès d'adultes atteints de DA modérée à sévère, de patients atteints de DA en rémission après traitement avec dupilumab, et de sujets sains appariés selon l'âge. Un immunophénotypage cellulaire a été performé sur des PBMC afin d'identifier *ex vivo* les sous-ensembles de cellules T auxiliaires et la production intracellulaire de cytokines à l'aide de la cytométrie de flux multiparamétrique. **B)** Les PBMCs de patients sains et de patients atteints de DA ont été cultivés *in vitro* pendant 7 jours en présence de S. aureus (SEB) +/- lymphopoïétine stromale thymique (TSLP) - conditions présentes dans la peau des patients et connues pour augmenter les cellules T_{H2} IL-13⁺, dans le but de déterminer si nous pouvons détecter des facteurs de co-stimulation (ICOS, OX40), de transcription canoniques (pSTAT6, GATA3), ainsi que des marqueurs de mémoire/activation (CD45RO, HLA-DR) associés à une réponse T_{H2} .

<u>Résultats</u>: A. Comme prévu, un rapport $T_H 1/T_H 2$ profondément réduit a été observé *ex vivo* chez les patients atteints de DA par rapport aux sujets sains; cela a notamment persisté dans une cohorte de patients en rémission suite au traitement avec dupilumab. La détection intracellulaire des cytokines a révélé une plus grande proportion de cellules productrices d'IL-13 et d'IL-4 parmi les cellules CLA⁺ chez les patients atteints de DA que chez les sujets sains. Nous démontrons que les patients traités avec dupilumab ont des cellules $T_H 2$ mémoires activées (élevées et persistantes), en particulier des cellules CLA⁺ à orientation cutanée, par rapport aux sujets sains, en dépit d'une activité minime de la maladie. Une proportion plus élevée de cellules Treg a également été détectée chez les patients atteints de DA traités avec dupilumab par rapport aux sujets sains. Notamment, le niveau de production d'IL-13 (MFI) chez les patients traités avec dupilumab reste comparable à celui des patients atteints de DA non traités, et est significativement plus élevé que chez les sujets sains, malgré une diminution de la fréquence des lymphocytes T CD4⁺CLA⁺IL-13⁺.

B. En utilisant des conditions inflammatoires simulant la peau, nous démontrons que la TSLP et la SEB sont suffisantes pour entraîner la sécrétion d'IL-13 et des réponses pathogènes de cellules T effectrices de type 2 à partir de PBMCs sains *in vitro*, reproduisant les fonctions de cytokines et de cellules T similaires à celles de la DA trouvées chez les patients *ex vivo*.

<u>Conclusions:</u> Nos résultats démontrent que malgré un traitement à long terme des patients atteints de DA avec dupilumab, un niveau persistant de production d'IL-13 par les lymphoctyes T à localisation cutanée est détecté chez les patients, malgré une rémission clinique. Nous révélons ici que ce niveau résiduel de production d'IL-13 peut potentiellement contribuer à rechute de la maladie chez les patients. En outre, nous démontrons que les facteurs associés à la peau, tels que la TSLP et la SEB, peuvent promouvoir les réponses de type 2 pour induire la production d'IL-13 *in vitro*, ce qui suggère que ces facteurs peuvent jouer un rôle en amont dans le maintien de l'activité résiduelle de la maladie après le traitement. L'ensemble de ces données permet de mieux comprendre la physiopathologie et les mécanismes potentiels responsables des rechutes, et de mettre en évidence de nouvelles cibles potentielles pour le traitement de la DA.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my profound gratitude to my thesis supervisor, Dr. Carolyn Jack, for her invaluable time and support throughout my Master's program. Her guidance, mentorship, and patience have been instrumental in shaping my research skills and fostering my academic interests. Dr. Jack's unique role as a clinician-scientist has not only allowed me to pursue a project that deeply resonates with me but has also contributed significantly to my professional growth. As your first graduate student, I firmly believe that we embarked on this journey together, overcoming various challenges along the way. Despite these hurdles, our collaboration has been immensely fruitful. I am sincerely appreciative of the numerous opportunities I have had to present and discuss my research under your mentorship. Your wisdom and insights have been invaluable, and I will carry them with me as I navigate future professional endeavors.

I would also like to thank members of the Jack lab, Vladimir Andrey, for his guidance and instruction in utilizing the lab's *in vitro* model for my project, and Gaurav Isola, for his continued support as a colleague and friend throughout my project. I would like to thank Franck Dupuy for assisting in sample processing for my largest and final experiment.

Next, I would like to thank my co-supervisor, Dr. Ciriaco Piccirillo, for providing his scientific expertise and support throughout my Masters. I am very appreciative to have had the opportunity to join your lab during my undergraduate studies, which marked the beginning of my research career. Your guidance and advice for the development of my MSc project has been influential. Dr. Piccirillo has fostered an inspiring and healthy learning environment with exceptional trainees, and I am thankful for the solid foundation and valuable teachings imparted by each member of the laboratory.

I would like to thank my committee members: Dr. Dao Nguyen, Dr. Jörg Fritz, and Dr. Giovanni (John) DiBattista for providing insightful feedback regarding my project.

I would like express my deepest gratitude to Tho-Alfakar Al-Aubodah, a person whose valuable contributions made this endeavor possible. Thank you for teaching me the fundamental techniques of research, enriching the growth of my critical research skills and constantly challenging the boundaries of my creativity from my very first research experiencing. Despite my countless questions, you always took the time to patiently explain the basics and share your knowledge. I am grateful for all your mentorship, advice, guidance, from the first experiment to the writing of my thesis. Finally, thank you for being an amazing friend who has only ever encouraged, supported and believed in my ability to accomplish more and stive for excellence.

I would also like to thank Helen Mason, Dr. Fernando Alvarez, Roman Istomine, Mikhäel Attias, and all other members of the Piccirillo lab for their constant help and guidance for my experiments during these part years.

To Céleste Pilon, I value and appreciate the friendship we've cultivated throughout the years. You are an inspiring researcher, who consistently demonstrates dedication to your work and the ability to conquer challenges. A valuable lesson I've learnt from you is the importance of perseverance and resiliency. I am incredibly grateful for the numerous times you've revised my written pieces, been an audience for presentation rehearsals, and for being the most excited person to celebrate my achievements.

I would like to thank all the research coordinators, nurses, physicians, and administrative staff at the McGill University Health Center for providing me with the resources and samples to conduct my research study. To all the patients and healthy individuals who have generously donated samples, I am immensely thankful for your time, understanding and dedication for the advancement of research.

I would like to acknowledge the funding I received from Mitacs that supported me throughout my degree.

To my friends, Amanda and Dolly thank you for believing in me and standing by my side through all the ups and downs. This journey would not have been the same without your support throughout. Finally, I would like to thank my entire family for their constant support and encouragement to pursue my academic endeavors. I recognize that I wouldn't be here at this stage today without the wisdom and teachings you have bestowed upon me.

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

Harshita Patel, MSc thesis student, wrote the entire thesis with editorial input from Dr. Carolyn Jack and Dr. Ciriaco Piccirillo. Céleste Pilon provided editorial inputs on the French abstract of this thesis. Harshita Patel, Dr. Carolyn Jack, Dr. Ciriaco Piccirillo, Tho-Alfakar Al-Aubodah, and Dr. Fernando Alvarez conceptualized the experiments. Harshita Patel performed all the experiments (PBMC isolation, cell culture, flow cytometry acquisition) and collected data. Harshita Patel performed all statistical analysis with input from Dr. Carolyn Jack, Dr. Fernando Alvarez, Tho-Alfakar Al-Aubodah, Mikhäel Attias and Franck P. Dupuy.

I, Harshita Patel, have read, understood and abided by all norms and regulations of academic

integrity of McGill University.

FIGURES & TABLES

Figure 1. Elevated levels of activated memory T_{H2} cells are found in atopic dermatitis patients, despite a modest increase in Treg cells.

Figure 2. Skin-homing (CLA⁺) $T_H 2$ cells remain elevated in dupilumab-treated atopic dermatitis patients.

Figure 3. Skin-homing CRTH2⁺CD8⁺ T cells are detected in atopic dermatitis patients.

Figure 4. IL-13 and IL-4 producing skin-homing T cells remain elevated in dupilumab treated atopic dermatitis patients.

Figure 5. Skin-homing CD8⁺ IL-13 producing T cells are detected in atopic dermatitis patients.

Figure 6. In vitro T_H2 expansion model.

Figure 7. TSLP+SEB is sufficient to promote the expansion of IL-13 producing CD4 T cells and non-conventional CD8 IL-13⁺ T cells

Figure 8. Expansion of activated and memory CD4 T cells from AD patients following TSLP+SEB stimulation.

Figure 9. Expression T_H 2-associated costimulatory markers from CD4 and CD8 T cells in adult AD patients with refractory disease relative to healthy control.

Figure 10. Skin-mimicking inflammatory conditions expand Th2 cells from adult patients with refractory disease compared to healthy subjects.

Table 1. Laboratory and clinical information for cross sectional study: ex vivo T cell immunophenotyping

Table 2. Laboratory and clinical information for AD patients' treated with dupilumab.

Table 3. Laboratory and clinical data of AD patients and healthy subjects for *in vitro* Th2 expansion

Supplementary Figures.

Suppl. Figure 1. Gating strategy for phenotypic/cytokine analyses.

Suppl. Figure 2. Detection of $T_{\rm H}1$, $T_{\rm H}2$, and $T_{\rm H}17$ cells from peripheral blood of adult atopic dermatitis patients.

Suppl. Figure 3. Detection of CD8 T cells from peripheral blood of adult atopic dermatitis patients

Suppl. Figure 4. Naïve and memory T cells from peripheral blood of adult atopic dermatitis patients.

Suppl. Figure 5. CRTH2⁺ expressing CD8 T cells are elevated in AD patients

Suppl. Figure 6. Higher proportion of Treg cells detected in dupixent-treated AD patients compared to healthy subjects.

Suppl. Figure 7. Elevated T_H2 and diminished T_H1 responses are consistently observed in AD patients.

Suppl. Figure 8. Intracellular cytokine production from total CD8 T cells.

Suppl. Figure 8. Expansion of activated and memory CD4 T cells from AD patients following TSLP+SEB stimulation.

Suppl. Figure 9. Expression T_H2 -associated costimulatory markers from CD4 and CD8 T cells in adult AD patients with refractory disease relative to healthy control.

Suppl. Figure 10. Skin-mimicking inflammatory conditions expand T_H2 cells from adult patients with refractory disease compared to healthy subjects.

Suppl. Table 4. Ex vivo Flow Cytometry Panels

Suppl. Table 5. Antibody catalogue

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Definition
AD	Atopic dermatitis
AMP	Anti-microbial peptides
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
BSA	Body surface area
CCL17	C-C chemokine ligand 17
CCL22	C-C chemokine ligand 22
CCL27/CCL28	C-C chemokine ligand 27/28
CCR10	C-C chemokine receptor type 10
CCR4	C-C chemokine receptor type 4
CLA	Cutaneous lymphocyte antigen
CRTH2	Prostaglandin D2 receptor 2
DC	Dendritic cell
DLQI	Daily life quality index
EASI	Eczema Area and Severity Index
FLG	Filaggrin
Foxp3	Fork-head binding protein 3
GATA3	GATA binding protein 3
IL-13	Interlukin-13
IL-2	Interlukin-2
IL-25	Interlukin-25
IL-31	Interlukin-31
IL-33	Interlukin-33
IL-4	Interlukin-4
IL-5	Interlukin-5
ILC2	Type 2 innate lymphoid cells
MFI	Mean fluorescence intensity
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
OX40L	OX40 ligand
POEM	Patient-Oriented Eczema Measure
S. aureus	Staphylococcus aureus
SEB	superantigen enterotoxin B
STAT6	Signal transducer and activation of transcription 6
TCI	Topical calcineurin inhibitors
TCR	T cell receptor
TCS	Topical corticosteroids
T _H 1	T helper 1 cell
T _H 17	T helper 17 cell
T _H 2	T helper 2 cell
T _{REG}	Regulatory T cells
T _{RM}	tissue-resident memory T
TSLP	Thymic stromal lymphopoietin
TSLPR	TSLP receptor
vIGA	Validated Investigator Global Assessment

INTRODUCTION

Atopic dermatitis (AD), known as eczema, is the most common inflammatory skin disorder around the world, with highest burden of disease measured by disability-adjusted life years¹⁻³. The disease has an early onset of diagnosis for the vast majority of people, however, adult onset of AD is reported more frequently with a different clinical presentation⁴⁻⁶. Localization of disease changes from infancy to adulthood, however, similar clinical manifestations of AD are present including eczematous lesions with exudation, blistering, erythema (redness), lichenification (thickening of skin), and intense pruritis (itch)^{7, 8}. Advanced population studies have debunked the long-term understanding that AD is a disease limited to childhood, as there is a significant subset of adult patients who do not undergo natural remission, and progress to have chronic adult AD⁹⁻¹¹. Large challenges remain as many patients with moderate-to-severe AD are resistant to traditional therapies (topical, phototherapy, systemic), and therefore, experience debilitating comorbidities¹². Therefore, the factors that contribute to refractory disease in adults, permitting the lack of natural remission must be clarified.

Clinical heterogeneity is a prominent feature of AD , which leads to many difficulties for accurate diagnoses, and requires additional research in diverse populations¹³. Pathophysiology mechanisms of AD involves an interplay of complex factors including genetics, epidermal barrier deficiencies, dysbiosis of the skin microbiome, and importantly, deviation in immune homeostasis⁸. The inflammatory state in AD is characterized by an overreactive T_H2 response, primarily driven by Interlukin-13 (IL-13), which responsible for the inflammation and clinical manifestations observed in disease¹⁴. Environmental factors such as the overabundant colonization of *Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus)* and its associated-superantigens may directly activate or strengthen a type 2 response in chronic AD¹⁵. In 2017, Dupixent (dupilumab) was the first human monoclonal antibody (targets IL-4/IL-13) approved for the treatment of moderate-to-severe AD in

adults¹⁶. While dupilumab has demonstrated clinical efficacy in patients^{17, 18}, there is limited data regarding the long-term effects of treatment, disease remission and relapse after discontinuation of treatment. To gain insight on disease relapse triggering populations, the identification and characterization of persistent conventional and non-conventional T cell populations in AD patients after treatment is required. We hypothesize that cutaneous host-pathogen factors may contribute to the persistence of pathogenic type 2 T cells following treatment with dupilumab in adult atopic dermatitis patients.

Objective: We sought to understand the role of heterogeneous T cell populations, specifically polar T cells/type 2 cells, contributing to chronic, unremitting moderate-to-severe disease in adult AD patients. Furthermore, we sought to elucidate the impact of long-term dupilumab treatment on the persistence of type 2 T cells in AD patients compared to untreated patients and healthy subjects.

Using a Canadian cohort of adult AD patients, we aimed to characterize the distinct T_H2 and nonconventional T_H2 -like IL-13⁺ cells during severe active disease and after dupilumab-induced disease remission.

Aims:

- To identify and compare conventional and non-conventional IL-13⁺ T cell populations found in peripheral blood of adult AD patients <u>at baseline</u>. vs healthy controls
- To determine if IL-13⁺ T cells persist despite successful remission of disease following dupilumab treatment, relative to baseline (cross-sectional analysis of EASI-90 responders)
- 3. To determine the skin-associated molecular factors promoting IL-13⁺ $T_H 2$ expansion in adult atopic dermatitis patients using an *in vitro* model for Type 2 immunity.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Epidemiology of AD

Epidemiological studies of AD at a global scale are challenging to perform due limitations in uniform diagnostic criteria, validity of questionnaires or surveys, and cost constraints¹⁹. The prevalence of AD varies largely across different countries, as well as between pediatric and adult AD. AD has historically been considered a disease of childhood, which resulted in majority of epidemiological AD studies being on a pediatric population of patients^{9-11, 19}. The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) is the largest study to provide validated global prevalence of AD using a standardized method of diagnosis across all countries, however, this lacks the inclusion of adults²⁰. The phase 3 ISAAC study revealed that prevalence of AD in adults is increasing in developed nations, and demonstrates how some ethnic groups are disproportionately affected²⁰. Many population-based studies show that AD is more prevalent in African American (AA) and Asian children compared to European American (EA) children²¹. Currently, there are insufficient studies that have investigated prevalence of adult AD^2 . A collection of US-population based studies performed on adult AD patients suggest an overall AD prevalence rate of 7% in US adults²². Limited data is available on Canadian cohorts of AD patients, however, the 'Skin I am in" report from Eczema Quebec, revealed that 96% of their Canadian AD cohort were of adolescent-adult age, and nearly half the patients said AD symptoms affected their daily life based on the DLQI test. Overall, AD can affect up to 20% of children and up to 10% of adults in populations world-wide^{2, 23}. As the prevalence and/or incidence of adult AD may be on the rise globally, future studies using validated and standardized disease measurement tools must be used to better understand the natural history of this complex heterogenic disease across the lifespan.

Natural remission vs. refractory disease

AD manifests early during childhood representing the first stage of the atopic march for most children⁴. Approximately 50% of individuals with AD develop clinical symptoms by the first year of life, while ~95% will experience disease onset by 5 years of age ⁵. Historically, by the beginning of adolescence, 75% of children outgrow disease and enter spontaneous natural remission³. Individuals that do not undergo natural remission may have chronic AD throughout their life-time, with variability in the relapse-remitting course of disease⁵. Studies demonstrating persistence of AD into adulthood has challenged the dogma of natural remission in childhood-adolescence. The PEER study is an ongoing cross-sectional cohort that enrolled children with AD to evaluate the natural history and persistence of disease over a 10 year period¹¹. From 7157 children enrolled, the study demonstrated that, at every age (2-26 years), more than 80% of participants had persistent AD symptoms, for which they were using medication to treat symptoms. In addition, 50% of patients experienced their first 6-month symptom and treatment-free period only after 20 years of age¹¹. More recently, adult/adolescent-onset of AD has been described as symptoms presenting after 16 years of age, determined to be as frequent as in 1 in 4 AD patients²⁴. As patient-reported adult-onset may in fact be remitted childhood AD, compounded by recall bias, specificity of adultonset vs. recurrent AD remains controversial¹⁰. Diagnostic criteria also remain a challenge as studies reveal that the clinical phenotypes of adult-onset AD differ compared to those of childhood onset^{6, 25, 26}. Patients with chronic recurrent AD often have inadequate disease control with potent topical corticosteroids or calcineurin inhibitors, and therefore, require long-term systemic medication to reduce disease burden²⁷. Traditional immunosuppressive therapies are effective to control an acute flare of AD, however, safety considerations limit their use and discontinuation of treatment results in disease relapse¹². Newer targeted therapies are in clinical trials or approved for the treatment of chronic AD, however, there are several barriers to its continuous use including

the lack of studies evaluating long-term safety and efficacy, conflicting evidence, small sample size of studies, adverse effects, and cost²⁸. Currently, there is a gap in understanding as to why some patients undergo natural remission whereas others have life-long disease; similarly, the determinants of response to therapeutic remission, or lack thereof, are still being defined. Studies investigating the mechanisms of disease persistence, specifically host-pathogen molecular and cellular immune factors that promote disease activity, are needed for disease-modulating long-term management of AD.

Pathogenesis of AD disease

Genetic Susceptibility

Parental family history of atopic diseases is a strong risk factor for the development of AD. Twin studies demonstrate that heritability of AD is 75% in monozygotic twins²⁹. Multiple genes have been associated with susceptibility of AD, including those encoding epidermal barrier structure proteins, IL-13 and associated immune/ inflammatory molecules⁸. Filaggrin (FLG) is a filamentaggregating protein that binds keratin fibers in epithelial cells promoting epidermal differentiation, and supporting the corneal barrier of the upper epidermis³⁰. Loss of function mutations in FLG can impair this integrity resulting in increased trans epidermal water loss, increased pH, and greater permeability penetration to exogenous allergens/microbial factors, contributing to the atopic traits asthma, hay fever and microbial or allergen specific-IgE^{8, 31}. In some populations ~ 50% of AD patients have FLG mutations; however, while numerous FLG mutations are associated with Caucasian AD, a different picture emerges which considering diverse ethnicities³². In addition, more than 50% of FLG carrying individuals do not develop atopic diseases³³. This suggests that FLG mutations may increase susceptibility but not required nor sufficient for AD. Other skinassociated genes such as SPINK5/LEKT1 have also been associated with AD³⁴; these are beyond the scope of this report. Notably, IL-13, OVOL, and FLG are the main three genes associated with

susceptibility to AD, with several other mutations in the T_H2 cytokine locus and its respective receptors^{8, 35}. Finally, as majority of AD heritability remains unexplained by GWAS studies (~80%)³⁶, additional work is required, to understand individual risk³², and to explore environmental: epigenetic factors .

Epidermal Barrier Dysfunction

The maintenance of an intact epidermis is needed for a protective physical and chemical barrier to the outside world. In AD, decreased expression of the epidermal differentiation complex is associated with altered lipids, including protective ceramides, and reduced tight junctions³⁷. Functional barrier deficits lower the threshold for triggering the itch-scratch cycle⁸. A plethora of skin-damaging noxious insults (microbes, trauma, allergens), may penetrate or damage the skin epithelia and be sensed by live keratinocytes, thus activating powerful innate immune response 'alarmins', such as IL-25, IL-33, and thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP)⁸. Specifically, TSLP has been best described for its role in promoting type 2 responses in allergic diseases, however, recent literature recognizes its pleotropic role in other functions such as host defence against infection, cancer, fat metabolism, and chronic inflammatory diseases³⁸. In human AD skin lesions, TSLP is a cytokine that is highly expressed, and is produced in response to skin injury or S. aureus burden³⁹⁻⁴¹. While TSLP promotes naïve CD4 T cell differentiation through acting on dendritic cells³⁹, it can also directly bind to TSLP receptor (TSLPR) on TH2 cells to produce inflammatory cytokines⁴². TSLPR has been found to be elevated in AD patients, correlating with disease severity^{42, 43}. Alarmin-mediated downstream signaling initiates a pro-inflammatory T_H2 response through cytokine production, that will contribute to inflammation, stimulate itch-sensory neurons to perpetuate barrier defects^{44, 45}. Further, T_H2 cytokines have been shown to decrease expression of anti-microbial peptides (AMP) on skin, facilitating colonization of antibiotic-resistant bacteria

such as *Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus)* on lesional AD skin and increasing the risk of skin infections^{37, 46}. While these cellular, molecular, and microbial factors drive an ongoing cycle of itch-scratch in AD resulting in tissue injury, their role in the maintenance of chronic severe disease remains unclear.

Dysbiosis of the Skin Microbiome

The human skin is inhabited by various bacteria, fungi, and viruses known as the skin microbiota⁴⁷. Common skin commensals include *Propionobacterium* species, which colonize sebaceous sites of the skin, whereas *Staphylococcus* and *Corynebacterium* species thrive in moist humid areas of the skin⁴⁷. Skin microorganisms have an essential role in protection against pathogen invasion, to educate innate and adaptive immune responses, and to promote epidermal barrier repair^{47, 48}. Whether a dysbiosis of the skin flora can directly lead to development of AD requires further elucidation.

Abnormalities in *S. aureus* populations have strongly been associated with AD. Studies demonstrate that up to 90% of AD skin is colonized with *S. aureus*, in contrast to healthy subjects having a prevalence of approximately 20%, mainly localized in moist areas (armpits, elbow/knee creases)^{47, 49-51}. High burden *S. aureus* colonization has been shown to positively correlate with disease severity in AD patients^{15, 52-56}. Within the same patients, colonization of *S. aureus* was 70% and 39% in lesional vs non-lesional AD skin⁵⁷. In addition, microbial diversity in AD patients is reduced, meaning AD patients have fewer protective commensal bacteria such as *S. epidermidis* and *S. hominis*, which secreate antimicrobial peptides to maintain a balance of *S. aureus*⁵⁸. This dysbiosis of the skin microbiome contributes to increasing disease severity of AD. One study investigated shifts in skin microbiome from AD children during disease flare and after treatment by performing 16S ribosomal RNA bacterial gene sequencing⁵⁹. In AD children, they found that

S. aureus sequences were highly expressed during flares compared to baseline or post-treatment⁵⁹. Following treatment, *Streptococcus, Cutibacterium* and *Corynebacterium* species were increased in AD patients, suggesting a reversion to normal bacterial flora in the skin correlating with improved symptoms⁵⁹. *S. aureus* is armed with numerous virulence factors including exogenous proteases, pore-forming toxins, metabolic adaptations, biofilm producing capacity, and importantly for AD, superantigens⁶⁰. Exogenous proteases can disrupt the epidermal barrier and also have the capacity to inactivate antimicrobial peptides, which are responsible to degrade host-evading *S. aureus* biofilms on skin⁶¹. Bacterial biofilms are extremely cohesive and surface adherent which are held together by a self-producing extracellular matrix, rendering them highly resistant to antibiotic treatment^{62, 63}. The ability of *S. aureus* to penetrate into the dermis layer and induce the production of T_H2 cytokines^{58, 64} suggests that this may be a mechanism of disease pathology and requires further investigations.

Superantigens are potent immunostimulatory molecules that activate T cells, leading to rapid inflammation, excessive production of inflammatory cytokines, and toxic shock⁶⁵. Specifically, staphylococcal superantigens (Sags) are comprised of staphylococcus enterotoxins (SEs), staphylococcus enterotoxin- like (SEIs) proteins, and toxic shock syndrome toxin-1(TSST1) ⁶⁵. Conventional T cell activation is mediated through interaction of a peptide antigen presented via major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II expressed on antigen-presenting cells (APC), with specific T cell receptors (TCR)⁶⁶. Antigen recognition through MHC-TCR will result in downstream signalling to activate naïve T cells, the first signal promoting differentiation into effector and memory T cells. As the TCR repertoire is extremely diverse, a very small proportion of naïve T cells respond to a specific antigen, resulting in a normal adaptive inflammatory response⁶⁵. In contrast, superantigens bind the exterior of MHC and TCR, not in the peptide

groove, crosslink the receptors and initiate robust non-specific T cell activation (~ 30% of total T cell pool, vs 0.01%) $^{65, 67}$. Superantigen activation depends on TCR β -chain variable domains (V β)whereby each superantigen bind certain TCR V β regions⁶⁷. Currently, there are 20 distinct SAgs known, however, superantigen enterotoxin B (SEB) has been well described to play a prominent role in AD, over other enterotoxins $^{15,68-75}$. SEB can stimulate multiple T cells which bear TCRv β 3, 12, 14, 15, 17, or 20⁷⁶. The presence of SEB-specific IgE antibodies has been positively correlated with ,disease severity in AD patients ^{75, 77}, suggesting an active etiologic role for *S. aureus*. Lin et al. demonstrated that SEB- stimulated T cells produced T_H2 cytokines from AD patients, while T_H1 cytokines were detected in healthy subjects^{68, 78}. In addition, SEB has been described to promote itch in AD patients through the upregulation of IL-31- an inflammatory cytokine, mainly produced by T_H2 cells, mast cells, monocytes and macrophages, that has a key role in pruritis in allergic skin disease⁷⁹. High levels of IL-31 production was detected in vitro from human SEBstimulated monocytes and monocyte-derived macrophages in peripheral blood⁸⁰, while increased IL-31 mRNA was detected from lesional AD skin following SEB exposure⁸¹. As such, S. aureus burden in AD has the capacity to worsen disease activity through activation of inflammatory responses, however, the debate persists on its bystander versus causal role in AD.

Immune Processes in AD

Development of Type 2 responses

Type 2 immune responses are critical for protective immunity against extracellular parasitic infections and mediate pathogenesis of allergic diseases (eg. Asthma, allergic rhinitis, atopic dermatitis)^{82, 83}. Amongst the T helper subset, T_H2 cells are lymphocytes that mediate cellular type 2 adaptive responses, and promote allergic diseases through key effector cytokines including IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13^{83, 84}. Differentiation of naïve T cells into specific T helper subsets (T_H1, T_H2,

T_H17) require key polarizing cytokine signals^{83, 84}. An autocrine and paracrine manner of IL-4 signaling regulates T_H2 responses^{83, 84}. IL-4 drives T_H2 cell differentiation through activation of signal transducer and activation of transcription 6 (STAT6) tyrosine phosphorylation^{83, 84}. This phosphorylation upregulates gene expression of GATA3, the canonical transcription factor defining functional T_H2 cell programs^{83, 84}. Finally, T_H2 cell cytokines promote B cell class switch to generate IgE antibodies, IL-5-induced eosinophilia, and innate cell activation⁸³, all of which are important features of AD⁸.

T_H2-mediated inflammation in AD is modulated by various skin associated molecular factors⁴⁴. In response to external insults to the epidermal barrier or allergens, epithelial cells secrete "alarmins" including TSLP, IL-25, IL-33⁴⁴. Keratinocyte-derived alarmins can directly promote T_H2 responses by induction of T_H2 cytokine production, or polarization of dendritic cells⁴⁴. TSLP is largely produced in lesional AD skin, in response to tissue injury. TSLP activates dendritic cells (DC), which prime naïve T cells to differentiate into $T_{\rm H}2$ cells⁸⁵. Specifically, TSLP signaling via TSLP receptor (TSLPR) induces the expression of OX40 ligand (OX40L) on dendritic cells (DC), which is required for interaction with OX40 on naïve T cells to promote $T_{\rm H}2$ differentiation⁸⁶. In addition, TSLP stimulates itch-sensory neurons which evokes itch in AD⁸⁷. Production of IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 is elevated from $T_{\rm H2}$ cells as well as ILC2s following TSLP-induced signalling via TSLP receptor⁸⁸. Studies in murine models of atopic dermatitis demonstrate TSLPR-/- mice are protected from eosinophilia⁸⁹, and have decreased expression of T_H2 cytokines, whereas skin allergen exposure in the presence of TSLP leads to allergic inflammation⁹⁰. While TSLP is constitutively expressed in healthy skin, it has been found to be significantly increased in lesional skin and serum of AD patients (adults and children), but lacking in non-lesional skin, compared to healthy subjects^{39, 91-93}. Thus, TSLP is an integral factor contributing to the development and

maintenance of type 2 responses, however, further investigation is needed to fully elucidate its role in AD.

IL-25 is a cytokine of the IL-17 family that favors T_H2 inflammation, which has been found to be overexpressed in lesional AD skin^{82, 94}. In addition to DC activation, this cytokine directly stimulates type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) leading to type 2 cytokine production⁸². Allergenstimulated keratinocytes produce high levels of IL-25, which has been shown to decrease expression of FLG protein at the epidermal barrier⁹⁴. Similarly, IL-33 is a member of the IL-1 cytokines produced by epithelial cells of the skin, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells, which has been implicated in promoting type 2 immune responses in allergic diseases^{95, 96}. IL-33 signals through its ST2 receptor found on T_H2cells, ILC2 cells, eosinophils, basophils, mast cells, and macrophages to initiate the production of T_H2 cytokines^{95, 96}. In AD lesional skin, IL-33 mRNA and protein has been found to be elevated compared to non-lesional and healthy skin^{95, 97, 98}. One study demonstrated that IL-33 and TSLP reciprocally potentiates each other's protein and receptor expression (i.e ST2, TSLPR) in type 2 airway inflammation. This mechanism may also be activate in AD to worsen disease⁹⁹. Together, epithelial-derived alarmins, in response to skin injury and inflammation in AD, promote T_H2 cell generation to perpetuate disease progression and severity.

Key Type 2 cells in AD

It is well described that type 2 inflammation mediates AD disease pathology, predominately by T helper CD4⁺ T_H2 cells¹⁴. Activation of conventional T_H2 cells results in effector cytokine production including IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13¹⁴. Chemokine receptors including CCR4, CCR10, and CRTH2 are preferentially expressed on circulating T_H2 cells in allergic diseases, especially AD, and used to define subsets in human studies^{100, 101}. CCL17 (TARC) and CCL22 (MDC), ligands of CCR4, and CCL27/CCL28, ligands of CCR10, are biomarkers of AD¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰³.

CRTH2 receptor, expressed primarily on mast cells, eosinophils, and T_H2 cells, binds to its target PDG2 to induce downstream signaling leading to the production of inflammatory cytokines¹⁰⁴. More recently, Wambre et al. have described a new subset of T_H2 cells known as T_H2A cells associated with allergic disorders in humans, absent in nonatopic individuals¹⁰⁵, T_H2A cells, defined as CD4⁺CRTH2⁺CD161⁺CD45RO⁺CD27⁻CD45RB^{low}CD49d⁺ T cells, have phenotypic and functional differences compared to conventional T_H2 cells, and may constitute a therapeutic target to treat allergic disorders¹⁰⁵. Recent studies demonstrate a decrease in frequency of T_H2A cells following food oral immunotherapy¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁸. Of note, T_H2A cells were found to persist in AD skin following treatment, suggesting that this subset may be important to understand AD relapse¹⁰⁹. Further, T cells expressing cutaneous lymphocyte antigen (CLA) are skin-homing T cells that migrate from the systemic circulation into the barrier site to mediate inflammatory functions¹¹⁰. CLA+T cells can also recirculate back into the blood through lymphatics, which allows researchers to investigate these skin-homing T cells to gain insight regarding the immune process that occur in the skin¹¹⁰. High frequencies of skin-homing T_H2-cytokine producing T cells are found in refractory AD patients, highlighting their potential role for maintaining disease^{111, 112}.

In addition, ILC2s have been recently identified as contributors to the initiation and maintenance of type 2 cytokine responses⁸⁸. ILC2s strongly rely on epithelium derived alarmins IL-25, IL-33, and TSLP to sense tissue injury or pathogen invasion, given they do not express pattern-recognition receptors like DCs⁸⁸. Once activated, ILC2s mainly produce IL-5, IL-13, but not IL-4, to amplify type 2 immune responses⁸⁸. ILC2s perpetuate downstream inflammation after T_H2 pathology in AD, and may also have a protective role to repair lesions in AD¹¹³. ILC2s are a major source of IL-13 in murine models and are elevated in AD skin lesions⁹⁸, however, their role in human AD remains unclear. In normal human healthy skin, ILC2s comprise 25% of total ILC

populations. Aside from inflammatory functions, ILC2s promote tissue repair and immune homeostasis following inflammation, through secretion of amphiregulin- an epidermal growth factor for keratinocyte differentiation and proliferation¹¹⁴. As such, the dual role of ILC2s to promote type 2 inflammatory responses vs tissue repair in AD must be clarified.

While classical effector cell types have been the primary focus of research, increasing evidence suggests the presence of polyfunctional T cells with functional overlap with T_H2 , T_H2A and ILC2 cells in allergic diseases ^{106, 115}. Novel IL-13-secreting cells, specifically CD8 T cells referred as Tc2, have been identified in AD patients¹¹⁶. Skin-homing CD8⁺IL-13⁺ T cells have been found in blood and skin to correlate with disease severity in some AD patients ^{111, 116, 117}. Furthermore, a subset of memory T cells of the skin are tissue-resident memory T (T_{RM}) cells. They can be divided into both CD4 and CD8 subsets, whereby CD8⁺ T_{RM} co-expressing CD69 and CD103 are found in the epidermis where the disease manifests¹¹⁸. CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T_{RM} may be increased in AD skin compared to healthy skin, yet limited reports have characterized CD8⁺ T_{RM} cells in disease ^{117, 119, 120}. CD8⁺ T_{RM} cells persist in the epidermal skin compartment, and therefore, their role in maintenance of AD inflammation and potential contribution to initiation of a flare must further be investigated¹²¹.

Heterogeneity of T helper cell responses in AD

Recent advancements challenge T_H2 -centric paradigm of AD to describe the heterogeneity of cellular players across the lifespan and stage of disease¹²². Higher rates of severity and treatment resistance are reported in adult cohorts; to address questions of selection bias, age-related immune and host-pathogen environmental factors must be clarified in controlled longitudinal human studies. Infants with eczema have greater frequencies of T_H2 polarized cells trafficking to skin, which remain consistently elevated into adulthood compared to age-matched healthy subjects¹²³⁻

¹²⁹. In lesional skin of children (<6 months; pediatric AD), a predominant T_H^2 upregulation was observed with some $T_H 17/T_H^2 2$ skew, however, children lacked T_H^1 expression detected in adult AD patients¹³⁰. In healthy development, T_H^1 cell frequencies and T_H^1/T_H^2 ratios gradually increase with age; here, the healthy development of skin-homing T_H^1 populations is lacking in AD children, while skin-homing T_H^2 populations predominate^{112, 131}. Severe disease in adult AD patients is characterized by an expansion T_H^2/Tc^2 and Th^{22}/Tc^{22} cells, with defects in the T_H^1/Tc^1 T cell populations in blood¹¹¹. However, this phenomenon appears to change with increasing age; elderly (>60 years) AD patients demonstrate downregulated T_H^2 and T_H^{22} expression compared to younger patients, with an increase in T_H^1 and T_H^{17} responses, in skin (mRNA expression, immunohistochemistry) and blood (serum) ¹³². Therefore, additional studies must be performed in blood and skin of AD patients to clarify and account for changes in T cell populations associated with progressing age, allowing researchers to develop tailored treatments.

Moreover, differences in cellular players are also detected based in disease state (nonlesional, acute lesional, chronic lesional). Non-lesional skin may have some subtle immunohistological changes and T cell infiltration, which largely remains asymptomatic^{133, 134}. Acute lesional skin is primarily dominated by a T_H2 signature, along with an upregulation in T_H22 cells¹³⁵. Progression into the chronic lesional state continues to have a steady level of T_H2 expression, with an increase in T_H1 and T_H17 expression^{136, 137}. Due to challenges in obtaining human skin biopsy samples, there is a gap in knowledge regarding T cell populations at various disease states (non-lesional, acute, chronic) in AD, which requires further elucidation.

Although studies are limited in patients with skin of color, it has become evident that clinical phenotypic differences exist across ethnic backgrounds²¹. European American AD patients present with strong upregulation in both T_H2 and T_H22 axes, with minimal activity in the T_H1 and

 $T_H 17$ axes compared to both Asian and African American patients⁴⁴. In contrast, Asian patients appear to have the strongest $T_H 17$ skew amongst all cohorts in addition to $T_H 2$ activity^{13, 44}. Finally African American patients demonstrate low $T_H 1/T_H 17$ activity with upregulated $T_H 2/T_H 22$ pathways, which may be still lower compared to European American patients^{21, 44}. These findings have important implications for the development of targeted therapies in AD, as majority of AD research findings is based on European AD populations. Inclusive and diverse longitudinal studies are needed to clarify eczema immune deviations across various ethnic and age groups.

Regulatory T cell responses in AD

Regulatory T (T_{REG}) cells are potent suppressors of exaggerated immune responses and mediate tolerogenic responses to self-antigens¹³⁸. T_{REG} cells, commonly defined as CD25^{HIGH}CD127⁻ CD4⁺, comprise up to 20% of all T cells in human skin, whereas only ~5% are found in peripheral blood¹³⁹. The lineage defining transcription factor of T_{REG} cells is fork-head binding protein 3 (Foxp3), which is responsible for its development and suppressive function¹⁴⁰. In normal steady state skin, Langerhans cells promote the survival of T_{REG} cells, which produce anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10, IL-35, and TFG-B to maintain tolerance¹⁴¹. However, the role of T_{REG} cells in AD remains unclear¹⁴². A strong evidence that T_{REG} cells are important for regulation of inflammation in AD arises from the symptoms observed in immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked (IPEX) patients¹⁴³. Mutations in Foxp3 cause Treg cell dysfunction, leading to IPEX syndrome, where patients develop autoimmune enteropathy, anemia, endocrinopathy, and specifically, eczematous dermatitis¹⁴³. Human studies and mice models of AD demonstrates an important role of T_{REG} cells in AD, however, there is a lack of consensus on whether this response is impaired¹⁴⁴. Numerous studies have demonstrated increased numbers of CD4⁺CD25⁺FOXP3⁺ T_{REG} cells in AD patients from peripheral blood and skin, which has been

positively correlated with disease severity¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷. However, the suppressive capacity of T_{REG} cells in AD remains to be fully elucidated. Reefer et al. showed that *in vitro* stimulation of circulating CD25^{high}Foxp3⁺ T_{REG} from AD patients produced T_H2-cytokines, implicating a dysfunctional regulatory response¹⁴⁸. Immunohistochemistry revealed an absence of CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ T cells in lesional AD skin although IL-10 and TGF-b was detected in the skin¹⁴⁹. CD25⁺Foxp3 T_{REG} failed to inhibit effector T cell mediated keratinocyte cell death in an artificial co-culture model¹⁴⁹. Impaired suppressive function of Treg cells may be mediated by repeated exposure to allergic antigens, such as *S. aureus*-derived enterotoxins in AD skin. Upon stimulation with SEB, CD25⁺FOXP3⁺ T_{REG} cells fail to suppress proliferation of effector T cells in AD patients, however, this suppressive capacity is maintained with anti-CD3 stimuation^{146, 150}. Thus, the ability of T_{REG} cells to retain their suppressive capacity in response to AD-associated inflammation must be further investigated.

Role of IL-13 in AD

IL-13 is a critical mediator of allergic inflammation and required to sustain disease activity of AD^{14, 151, 152}. T_H2 cells are the primary source of IL-13 in AD, however, eosinophils, basophils, mast cells, macrophages, and B cells are also producers of IL-13¹⁵¹. The homeostatic milieu of the skin and barrier surface are heavily impacted by downstream effects of IL-13 signalling in AD. IL-13 downregulates the expression of various structural barrier proteins such as filaggrin, keratin, and involucrin¹⁴. IL-13 mediated lipid abnormalities are observed in AD lesional skin, compared to healthy subjects^{14, 153}. These changes in the epidermal barrier facilitates transmembrane water loss, worsening the skin¹⁴. Direct IL-13 signalling decreases keratinocyte-derived antimicrobial peptides, which allows increased colonization of *S. aureus* on the skin¹⁴. As previously discussed, AD patients have a high *S. aureus* burden that induces robust inflammatory response upon

production of superantigen enterotoxins. IL-13 activates keratinocytes to produce specific chemoattractant (CCL26, CCL22) to recruit inflammatory cells, further driving inflammation at the barrier site¹⁵⁴. Fibrotic tissue remodeling is observed in AD through decreased expression of MMP-9 in keratinocytes driven by IL-13 signalling, and contributes to lichenification of chronic lesions^{14, 155}. Finally, itch-sensory neurons can be directly activated by IL-13 driving the itch-scratch cycle^{14, 156}. While the central role of IL-13 in AD has been established through numerous studies, it is unclear whether IL-13 producing T cell populations are the main drivers of disease relapse in patients following treatment.

Disease Measurement of AD

Objective Tools

Validated Investigator Global Assessment (vIGA)

An Investigator, or Physician, Global Assessment (IGA or PGA) is an objective measure to measure overall disease severity¹⁵⁷. This assessment takes 4 clinical features of AD into account including erythema, edema, lichenification, and oozing/crusting.

Score range: 0= clear; 1= almost clear; 2= mild; 3=moderate; 4= severe¹⁵⁷.

Eczema Area and Severity Index (EASI)

An EASI score is a validated tool used to precisely measure the extent and severity of AD. This tool incorporates 4 objective AD features (erythema, edema, excoriations, lichenification), as well as the body surface area affected¹⁵⁷. A change in EASI score from baseline is used to monitor therapeutic response such as 50% (EASI50) or 75% (EASI75) improved¹⁵⁷.

Score range: 0 = clear; 0.1–1.0 = almost clear; 1.1–7.0 = mild; 7.1–21.0 = moderate; 21.1–50.0 = severe; 50.1–72.0 = very severe.

SCORAD

SCORAD is a tool used to assess the severity, extent, and intensity of AD. This test incorporates both objective features (erythema, edema, excoriations, lichenification, oozing/crust, xerosis), as well as subjective features (daily itch and sleeplessness)¹⁵⁷.

Score range: mild= <25; moderate= \geq 25<50; severe= \geq 50

Body Surface Area (BSA)

BSA assesses the body surface area involved in AD¹⁵⁷. However, modifications have been made to now use vIGAxBSA, which was found to correlate better with EASI¹⁵⁷.

SUBJECTIVE

Patient-Oriented Eczema Measure (POEM)

Patient-Oriented Eczema Measure (POEM) is a validated tool measuring the frequency of 7 subjective symptoms (1)itch frequency 2) bleeding 3) oozing/weeping/scabs 4) dryness/scaling 5) flaking 6) cracking 7) sleep loss) of AD over the past week ¹⁵⁷. The frequency of each is scored on the following scale: 0 = no days, 1 = 1 to 2 days, 2 = 3 to 4 days, 3 = 5 to 6 days, and 4 = every day, with a maximum score of 28^{157} .

Dermatology Life Quality Index (DLQI).

The DLQI is a 10 question tool including symptoms and feelings, daily activities, leisure activities, work/school, personal relationships, and treatments received, to assess the health-related quality of life of patients¹⁵⁷.

Current Treatments for AD Topical treatment, Phototherapy

Management of atopic dermatitis begins with preventative therapies including skin moisturization and the use of emollients to replenish hydration of the epidermis, reducing dry skin and lessening

the urge to scratch^{5, 158}. Non-specific irritants such as allergens (pollen, dust mites, animal dander, food allergen), specific soaps and harsh clothing's are also avoided by patients^{5, 158}. Disease exacerbation requires pharmacological treatments to control and reduce the degree of flare^{5, 158}.

Topical corticosteroids (TCS) are anti-inflammatory drugs used as the first-measure of treatment for moderate-severe AD^{5, 158}. They are grouped into seven classes of potency (Class 1 highest, Class 7 lowest) based on the vasoconstrictor assay^{5, 158}. Usage of TCS ranges from 1-2 weeks to achieve control of disease, depending on the potency of the drug, area of body to treat, and age of the patient^{5, 158}. Side effects of local application include epidermal thinning, atrophy, striae, purpura, and therefore, as not recommended for long-term use¹⁵⁹. Topical calcineurin inhibitors (TCI), including pimecrolimus cream and tacrolimus ointment, are used as a second-line of treatment for disease flare, and long-term preventative measures^{5, 158}. Calcineurin inhibitors provide broad immunosuppression without the epidermal side-effects seen in topical corticosteroids^{5, 158}. Both TCIs are approved for use in children and adults¹⁵⁸. Phototherapy is another treatment for AD which employs narrowband UVB and UVA1 to mediate immunosuppression¹⁶⁰. Specifically, it inhibits keratinocyte proliferation, alters cytokine production, reduces the antigen-presentation capacity of Langerhans cells, and changes the microbial diversity of the skin^{27, 160}. While clinical efficacy is observed in some patients after therapy, the willingness to use phototherapy is low due to its inconvenient treatment course¹⁶⁰. While clinical efficacy is observed in some patients after therapy, the willingness to use phototherapy is low due to its inconvenient treatment course¹⁶⁰. Topical treatments and phototherapies are effective pillars of AD treatment, however, adult AD patients with persistent disease fail to respond to traditional therapies, and require more targeted systemic treatments.

Systemic Treatment: Cyclosporine

Cyclosporine, an oral calcineurin inhibitor, is approved in Europe for AD and used as a first line of systemic medication for adults with moderate-to-severe AD¹⁶¹. However, it is used off-label in North America for the treatment of AD¹⁶². Binding of cyclosporine to cyclophilin forms a complex that inhibits calcineurin, blocking downstream signalling responsible for synthesis of interlukin-2 $(IL-2)^{163}$. IL-2 is essential for T cell differentiation and activation¹⁶⁴, thus, cyclosporine provides broad immunosuppression by preventing T cell function¹⁶³. Frequently, it is used as a rescue drug for rapid disease control during an flare. A meta-analysis of 15 controlled and uncontrolled studies assessing cyclosporine treatment outcomes demonstrated 55% relative effectiveness after 6-8 weeks of treatment¹⁶⁵; unfortunately, cessation of treatment leads to disease relapse in $\sim 50\%$ of patients within 2-3 months¹⁶⁶. Exposure to cyclosporine has important safety considerations, and long term use is associated with risks including nephrotoxicity, hypertension as well as infectious and neoplastic complications²⁷. Few studies have evaluated the immune modulatory effects of cyclosporine treatment in AD patients. Khattri et al. demonstrated significant decreases in gene expression pathways of T_H2, T_H17, and T_H22 molecules in lesional and non-lesional skin 2 and 12 weeks after cyclosporine treatment in AD patients¹⁶⁷.

Biologic: Dupilumab

Dupilumab is the first targeted biologic therapy approved for the long-term treatment of refractory moderate-severe AD¹⁶⁸. It is a fully human monoclonal antibody that targets IL-4Ra on type I and II receptors, which inhibits IL-4 and IL-13 signalling¹⁶⁸. While dupilumab is well tolerated, common adverse effects include injection site allergic reaction, conjunctivitis, and headache¹⁶⁹.

Two randomized, placebo-controlled phase 3 enrolled adults with moderate-to-severe AD and assigned dupilumab treatment for 16 weeks compared to placebo¹⁷. From 671 and 708 patients enrolled in each trial, primary outcome of 0 to 1 score on the Investigator's Global Assessment was observed in 38% and 36% of patients who received dupilumab every other week, respectively¹⁷. In addition, EASI-75 was significantly achieved in dupilumab treated patients compared to placebo at the end of 16 weeks. Dupilumab has been found to be clinically safe, with few adverse effects in patients¹⁷. Hamilton et al. first performed transcriptomic analyses from lesional and non-lesional skin of AD patients on dupilumab treatment (4 weeks), compared to placebo¹⁷⁰. They detected decreased expression in genes related to hyperplasia, T cells, dendritic cells, and T_H2-associated chemokines, which were all correlated to improvements in clinical scores¹⁷⁰. Although dupilumab is approved for severe disease management, the effects of longterm dupilumab treatment on immune populations remains to be clarified. Bakker et al. first investigated the early and long-term effects of dupilumab treatment (4 weeks vs 52 weeks) on T cell cytokine production¹⁷¹. At 4 weeks, T_H2 and T_H22 cytokine producing skin-homing T cell frequencies were decreased, however, no skew towards a specific T helper cell was observed at 52 weeks 171 . Similarly, a gradual decrease in memory T_H2 cells (CXCR3-CCR6-), and T_H1 cells was detected after dupilumab treatment in AD patients with moderate disease¹⁷¹. Thorough characterization of T helper subsets, and cytokine production from AD patients after long-term dupilumab treatment are required to gain insight on target cell populations, and potential residual disease activity.

Since the approval of dupilumab, other biologics (tralokinumab and lebrikizumab) targeting the IL-13 pathway at different stages have been in clinical trials¹⁶⁸. Large long-term
studies will be required for each medication individually and in comparison to dupilumab, to assess clinical efficacy and modulation in the immune landscape.

Persistent T cell populations following treatment in AD

Adult AD patients with uncontrolled moderate-to-severe disease are frequently unresponsive to traditional treatments, and require targeted therapies to induce disease remission¹². Discontinuation of treatment results in disease relapse, for both dupilumab and cyclosporine, which is quicker for the latter^{166, 172}. Although T_H2-mediated IL-13 responses are critical to maintain disease activity, large gaps exist in understanding treatment responses and residual disease activity at the molecular and cellular level in adult AD patients. Bangert et al. used a multiomics approach to study the persistence of specific immune cells in healed AD skin following 1 year of dupilumab treatment¹⁰⁹. Single-cell RNAseq (scRNA) performed on skin blister biopsies from AD patients showed increased expression CD4⁺IL13⁺ (T_H2) and CD8A⁺IL13⁺ (Tc2) cells after 1 year of dupilumab treatment, which were higher compared to healthy subjects¹⁰⁹. Overall IL-13 mRNA, as well as IL-13 protein detected from skin blister fluid, remained elevated despite dupilumab treatment¹⁰⁹. Given that dupilumab blocks both IL-13 and IL-4 receptor binding, an accumulation of protein is expected, however, IL-4 protein was not found in skin blister fluid following dupilumab treatment. CD8 T cells and CD4 "T_H2A" remained elevated in dupilumab treated skin, however, it was absent in healthy skin¹⁰⁹. In a cohort of moderate AD patients, elevated frequencies of skin-homing CCR4⁺CLA⁺IL-13⁺ were detected, and shown to persist 52 weeks after treatment¹⁷¹. Information regarding the level of IL-13 production after dupilumab treatment is lacking. Similarly, after cyclosporine treatment, non-responder patients lacked improvement in genes expressing $T_{\rm H}2/IL$ -13 cytokines, whereas, responder patients had reductions in this pathway^{167, 173}. Some studies demonstrate that cyclosporine may differentially impact $T_H 2$

cells, specifically having reduced ability to inhibit IL-13 production^{174, 175}. Together, these findings emphasize the residual disease activity observed in AD patients after treatment, in clinically resolved disease.

METHODS

Study Design

This cross-sectional study enrolled patients from the Canadian Atopic Dermatitis Cohort for Translational Immunology and Imaging (CACTI) study (REB: 2022-8004). Adult AD patients with moderate-severe disease (no systemic treatment, median EASI: 23.6) meeting Hanifin & Rajka criteria per the validated Investigator Global Assessment for AD scale, and an Eczema Area and Severity Index (EASI) score at or above the moderate disease range (\geq 7.1) as per published severity strata were enrolled in the study. Patients treated with dupilumab (median treatment length: 2.28 years; median EASI: 3.9) according to routine clinical care were also recruited. Agematched healthy subjects were enrolled. All patients and healthy subjects provided written informed consent to participate in the study, and filled out a patient-reported questionnaire. Blood samples were collected from patients and healthy subjects. Physician reported clinical parameters (EASI, vIGA, BSA) and patient reported subjective measures (POEM, DLQI, ITCH PP-NRS,) were collected from participants. Clinical laboratory test results was used to obtained IgE levels from AD patients (normal, <200 kU/L). For *in vitro* T_H2 expansion, we performed a case-control study with an additional cohort of AD patients with moderate-severe disease meeting Hanifin & Rajka criteria were recruited along with healthy controls.

Isolation, freezing, and thawing of peripheral blood mononuclear cells

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were isolated from whole blood using Ficoll-Paque Plus (Cytiva Life Sciences) gradient centrifugation. Undiluted whole blood was laid on top of Ficoll prior to centrifugation. After centrifugation, plasma (top layer) was first collected and aliquoted. PBMCs were collected from the white "buffy" coat at the plasma-ficoll interface, and washed with PBS (Wisent). Red blood cell lysis was performed with eBioscience 1X RBC Lysis Buffer (Invitrogen). Cells were washed with PBS and resuspended in appropriate solutions for subsequent processes. To freeze PBMC following isolation, cells were resuspended in heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Wisent). A cell count was performed with Trypan blue using a hemocytometer. A maximum of 10 million cells/ml were stored per vial. PBMCs were frozen in 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma-Aldrich) and 90% FBS (Wisent) in cryogenic vials. Vials were immediately placed in Styrofoam containers and placed in a -80 °C freezer. PBMCs were thawed in a 37°C water bath and washed with pre-warmed complete RPMI 1640 (cRPMI) with L-glutamine (Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS (Wisent), 1% sodium pyruvate (Wisent), 1% hepes (Wisent), 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Wisent), and 1% non-essential amino acids (Wisent). Cells were resuspended in cRPMI. DNase1 (Sigma) (final concentration: 0.25mg/ml) was added to the cell suspension and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Cells were washed with cRPMI and used for *ex vivo* multiparametric flow cytometry staining.

In vitro T_H2 expansion

Freshly isolated PBMCs were resuspended in complete RPMI 1640 (Gibco) supplemented with 10% autologous human plasma, 1 mM sodium pyruvate (Hyclone), 25 mM hepes, 100 ug/ml penicillin/streptomycin (HyClone), 2mM L-glutamine, and 1X non-essential amino acids. In a 24-well plate coated with collagen I from rat tail (Corning), 2.5 x 10⁶ cells/well in 450ul were seeded in triplicates and rested overnight at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ incubator. To replicate the inflammatory milieu of AD skin, PBMCs were stimulated with 2ng/mL of staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB) (Toxin Technologies) and 120ng/mL of recombinant human thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) (Biolegend) in the following conditions: Untreated, TSLP, SEB, TSLP+SEB (Day 0). Every 2 days, 500ul of complete RPMI was added to each well. On day 7, the cells were harvested

and a cell count for each condition (one well) was performed. In 96-well V bottom plate, 2.5×10^5 cells/well were plated for subsequent flow cytometry experiments. The volume required to obtain 2.5×10^5 cells was determined from the TSLP+SEB condition, and the same volume was taken from each condition to maintain the culture conditions.

Extracellular and Intracellular staining

For ex vivo immunophenotyping, PBMC were thawed and rested for 2h at 37°C. For intracellular cytokine detection, cells were stimulated with 20ng/ml of phorbol 12-myristate 13 acetate (PMA) (Sigma-Aldrich) and 750ng/ml of ionomycin (Sigma-Aldrich) in the presence of Monensin based Golgi Stop (1:1000 dilution) for 3 hours at 37°C in 5% CO₂ incubator prior to staining. Single cell suspensions were stained with Fixable Viability Dye eFluor 780 (eBioscience, 1:1000) and Human TruStain FcX blocking solution (Biolegend, 1:100) in PBS (Wisent) for 15 mins at 4°C. Extracellular surface markers were stained for 30 mins at 4°C with the following fluorochromeconjugated monoclonal antibodies raised against human proteins prepared in PBS (according to experiment): anti-CD4 FITC (RPA-T4, BDBiosciences), anti-CD4 APC (RPA-T4, Biolegend), PerCP-Cy 5.5 (RPA-T8, BDBiosciences), anti-CD8 α V500 (RPA-T8, anti-CD8 α BDBiosciences), anti-CD3 BV785 (OKT3, Biolegend), anti-CD45RA AF700 (HI100, Biolegend), anti-CLA FITC (HECA-452, Biolegend), anti-CRTH2 PE-CF594 (BM16, BDBiosciences), anti-CXCR3 BV421 (1C6/CXCR3, BDBiosciences), anti-CCR6 PE-Cy7 (GO34E3, Biolegend), anti-CD25 APC (2A3, BDBiosciences), anti-CD127 PE-eFluor-610 (eBioRDR5, eBioscience), anti-HLA-DR V500 (G46-46, BDBiosciences). Subsequently, cells were fixed and permeabilized using the Foxp3 Transcription Factor Fixation/Permeabilization buffer set (eBioscience) (ex vivo) or True-Nuclear Transcription Factor Fixation/Permeabilization Buffer set (Biolegend) (in vitro culture) according to manufacturer's instructions. Intracellular staining was performed with fluorochrome-conjugated monoclonal antibodies raised against intracellular human proteins

prepared in permeabilization buffer: anti-GATA3 BUV395 (L50-823, BDBiosciences), anti-FOXP3 PE (236A/E7, Invitrogen), anti-Helios Pacific Blue (22F6, Biolegend), anti-IL-13 PE (JES10-5A2, BDBiosciences), anti-IL4 APC (8D4-8, BDBiosciences), anti-IFN- γ PE-Cy7 (4S.B3, BDBiosciences), anti-IL17a V450 (N49-653, BDBiosciences), anti-IL-2 PerCP-Cy 5.5 (MQ1-17H12, BDBiosciences). Cells stimulated with PMA and ionomycin were stained intracellularly for CD4 and CD8 α . Samples were acquired on a BD LSRFortessa X-20 flow cytometer (BD Bioscience) and analyzed using FlowJo version 10 software.

Phosphoflow Staining

For intranuclear phospho-protein staining, cells were re-stimulated with human anti-CD3/CD28/CD2 (StemCell, 1:100) for 24 hours at 37°C in 5% CO2 incubator prior to staining. Single cell suspensions were stained with Fixable Viability dye Zombie UV (Biolegend, 1:1000) in PBS (Wisent) for 15 mins at 4°C. Cells were fixed and permeabilizated using the True-Nuclear Transcription Factor Fixation/Permeabalization set (Biolegend) for 30 mins at 37°C in 5% CO₂ incubator. Nuclear permeabilization was performed with BD PhosflowTM Perm Buffer III (BDBiosciences) on ice for 30 mins. Cells were then washed twice with PBS. Extracellular and intranuclear markers were stained at room temperature for 30 mins with the following monoclonal antibodies raised against human proteins prepared in permeabilization buffer, Human TruStain FcX blocking solution (Biolegend), and Brilliant Stain buffer (BD Biosciences): anti-CD4 APC (RPA-T4, Biolegend), anti-CD8 α BV605 (SK1, Biolegend), anti-CD3 V500 (UCHT1, BDBiosciences), anti-CD45RO APC/Fire 750 (UCHT1, Biolegend), anti-GATA3 PE (L50-823, BDBiosciences), anti-pSTAT6 Alexa Fluor 488 (A15137E, Biolegend), anti-OX40 BV711 (Ber-ACT35, Biolegend), anti-ICOS AF700 (C398.4A, Biolegend), anti-HLA-DR BV395 (G46-6, BDBiosciences). Cells were washed and resuspended in PBS for acquisition. Samples were acquired on a BD LSRFortessa X-20 flow cytometer (BD Bioscience) and analyzed using FlowJo version 10 software.

Statistical Analysis

Multiple comparisons between three groups were tested using a unpaired, non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a Dunn's multiple comparisons test (*ex vivo*). Multiple comparisons in the *in vitro* culture (to control: untreated) were tested using a paired, non-parametric Friedman Test followed by a Dunn's multiple comparisons test, between AD and healthy subjects separately for each condition. Data are displayed as mean \pm standard deviation. P value of ≤ 0.05 was considered significant. P values were indicated on graphs as $* p \leq 0.05$, $** p \leq 0.01$, $*** p \leq 0.001$, $**** p \leq 0.0001$. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism, version 7 (GraphPad Software).

RESULTS <u>Aim 1-2:</u>

In order to understand the role of heterogeneous T cell populations contributing to chronic AD, we performed a cross-sectional study with adult AD patients meeting the Hanifin and Rajka diagnostic criteria (n=21, no systemic treatment), and age-matched healthy subjects (n=10), in addition to a cohort of AD patients in near clinical remission (dupilumab-treated, n=13). Untreated adult AD patients had severe disease as measured by Eczema Area Severity Index (EASI) score (median EASI: 23.1; range: 11.6-46.8). In the Dupilumab treatment cohort, disease was controlled and below the baseline target treatment goal of EASI 7¹⁷⁶. AD patients treated with dupilumab had mild disease (median EASI: 3.1; range: 0.6-8.3) (Table 1). Prior to dupilumab treatment, this cohort of AD patients also had severe disease (median EASI: 35.65; range: 16-51; IgE) comparable to the untreated AD cohort (no significant differences), minimizing the impact of cohort specific differences on the data (Table 2). The median treatment length: 1.93 years and range of dupilumab treatment length was 0.51-2.29 years. Objective clinician-reported severity assessment using the vIGA, %BSA, as well as the subjective patient-reported (POEM), and itch PP-NRS demonstrate that AD patients had a significantly higher disease severity compared to dupilumab treated patients (Table 1.) Comorbidities within the cohorts included asthma (AD: 31.2%; dupilumab AD: 83.3%), and allergic rhinitis (AD: 56.2%; dupilumab AD: 75%).

	Healthy (n=10)	AD (n=16)	AD + Dupilumab (n=12)	<i>ρ</i> -value
Age (yrs)	27 (21-60)	32.7 (21.9-60.7)	37(25-70.9)	ns
Sex (F/M)	5/4 (1 N/A)	11/5	3/9	
Ethnicity				
European	4	9	6	
Asian	2	7	3	
Middle Eastern	3	N/A	2	
Latin American	N/A	N/A	1	
Treatment length (yrs)	N/A	N/A	1.93 (0.51-2.29)	
*IgE (kU/L)	N/A	2203.71 (99-62235)	1442.62 (53-8459)	ns
**LDH (U/L)	N/A	221.5 (151-482)	177 (125-211)	ns
EASI Score	N/A	23.1 (11.6-46.8)	3.1 (0.6-8.3)	<0.0001
vIGA	N/A	3 (2-4)	1 (1-3)	<0.0001
BSA%	N/A	42 (10-90)	2 (1-20)	<0.0001
POEM	N/A	23 (9-28)	4 (3-17)	<0.0001
DLQI	N/A	12 (7-22)	1 (0-19)	<0.001
ITCH PP-NRS	N/A	7 (3-10)	2 (0-5)	<0.0001
Asthma	N/A	5 (31.2%)	10 (83.3%)	
Allergic Rhinitis	N/A	9 (56.2%)	9 (75%)	
Childhood AD onset	N/A	13 (81.2%)	11 (91.6%)	
Family Hx AD	N/A	8 (n=15; 53.5%)	6 (50%)	
Family Hx Asthma	N/A	3 (n=15; 20%)	6 (50%)	
Family Hx Allergic Rhinitis	N/A	12 (n=15; 80%)	9 (75)	
Dust Allergies	N/A	11 (n=15; 73.3%)	10 (83.3%)	
Animal Allergies	N/A	8 (n=15; 53.3%)	9 (75%)	

Table 1. Laboratory and clinical information for cross sectional study: ex vivo T cell immunophenotyping

Data are presented as median values with range unless otherwise specified. *Reference range: 0 to 200 kU/L for adults **Reference range: 140 to 280 U/L for adults

Objective measures:

EASI: Eczema Area and Severity Index VigA: Validated Investigator Global Assessment scale for AD BSA%: Body Surface Area affected

Subjective measures:

POEM: Patient Oriented Eczema Measure DLQI: Dermatology Life Quality Index ITCH PP-NRS: Peak Pruritus Numerical Rating Scale

	Pre-Dupilumab (n=12)	Post-Dupilumab (n=12)	<i>ρ</i> -value
Treatment length (yrs)	N/A	1.93 (0.51-2.29)	
*lgE (kU/L)	10272.28 (1682-33650)	1442.62 (53-8459)	<0.0001
**LDH (U/L)	295.5 (195-471)	177 (125-211)	ns
EASI Score	35.65 (16-51)	3.1 (0.6-8.3)	<0.0001
vIGA	3.5 (3-4)	1 (1-3)	<0.0001
BSA%	70 (20-90)	2 (1-20)	<0.001

Table 2. Laboratory and clinical information for AD patients' treated with dupilumab.

Data are presented as median values with range unless otherwise specified.

*Reference range: 0 to 200 kU/L for adults

**Reference range: 140 to 280 U/L for adults

Objective measures:

EASI: Eczema Area and Severity Index VigA: Validated Investigator Global Assessment scale for AD BSA%: Body Surface Area affected

<u>Circulating activated T cells and Th2 cells persist in AD patients despite achieving clinical remission on Dupilumab</u>

Dupilumab inhibits the IL-4Ra-mediated signaling involved in the differentiation, function, and survival of $T_H 2$ T cells⁸⁴. To investigate whether type 2 T cells persist in AD patients following long-term treatment with dupilumab, we first focused on identifying and characterizing T cell populations from peripheral blood *(ex vivo)* of AD patients, AD patients treated with dupixent and age-matched healthy subjects.

Cell surface markers were used to identify subsets of T_{H2} (CRTH2⁺CD4⁺), T_{H1} (CXCR3⁺CD4⁺), T_{H17} (CCR6⁺CD4⁺), activated (HLA-DR⁺ CD4⁺) T cells, and Treg cells (CD127⁺Foxp3⁺Helios⁺) by flow cytometry. Gating strategy for subsequent analyses is demonstrated in Supplemental Figure 1. Prior studies have demonstrated that memory T cells are elevated in peripheral blood and skin of pediatric AD patients compared to healthy subjects^{167, 177}, although there are conflicting reports on which specific memory T helper subsets (T_{H1}, T_{H2}, and

 $T_{\rm H}17$) contribute to disease activity in adult AD patients. Memory T cells may reflect cutaneous immune responses, given their migratory properties to inflamed non-lymphoid tissues. We sought to characterize subsets of antigen-experienced memory T cells in the systemic compartment of our cohorts to identify their potential contribution to immune deviation in the skin.

We first demonstrated that activated T cells (HLA-DR⁺), T_{H1} (CXCR3⁺), T_{H2} (CRTH2⁺), and T_{H17} (CCR6⁺) cells from total CD4 T cells can be detected from peripheral blood of adult AD patients, AD patients treated with dupilumab, and healthy subjects. **(Suppl. Figure 2).** Elevated proportions of activated HLA-DR⁺ T cells were observed in AD patients compared to healthy subjects, however, no significant differences were observed in T_{H1} (CXCR3⁺), T_{H2} (CRTH2⁺), and T_{H17} (CCR6⁺) cells **(Suppl. Figure 2)**. Within total CD8 T cells, we detected HLA-DR⁺, CRTH2⁺, CXCR3⁺, and CCR6⁺ T cells, although no differences were observed between the three cohorts (Suppl. Figure 3). Here, we established that our cohort of AD patients are representative of T lymphocytes populations observed in AD patients in the current body of literature.

Further, we investigated memory T cells to clarify their role in maintaining chronic AD disease and to identify how dupilumab treatment impacts this population. Memory T cells are defined as CD45RA⁻ CD4 T cells (Figure 1a). Similar proportions of naïve and memory CD4 and CD8 T cells were detected from all three groups (Suppl. Figure 4). AD patients were found to have a significantly higher frequency of activated memory CD4 T cells (HLA-DR⁺), and increased HLA-DR expression-level (MFI) in AD patients compared to healthy subjects (1b). Furthermore, we found elevated proportions of activated memory CD4 T cells persisted in dupixent-treated patients despite disease control, as compared to healthy subjects (Figure 1b). The subset of memory CRTH2⁺ T_H2, but not CXCR3⁺ T_H1 nor CCR6⁺ T_H17 cells, was found to be significantly elevated in untreated AD patients, compared to healthy subjects (Figure 1c). Notably, in dupixent-

treated patients, this subset of highly pathogenic Th2 cells is reduced and not significantly elevated above healthy subjects. In contrast, CRTH2 expression (gMFI) per cell remains significantly increased relative to healthy subjects and comparable between untreated AD and dupilumabtreated patients (Figure 1C), suggesting that cell trafficking to the skin may be facilitated by higher levels of this chemokine receptor. No significant differences were observed in the proportion of $CXCR3^+$ T_H1 and $CCR6^+$ CD4⁺ T_H17-like cells across the cohorts, however, dupixent-treated patients expressed lower CCR6 expression levels compared to both AD patients and healthy subjects (Figure 1 D and E). Amongst memory CD8 T cells, a unique population of CRTH2⁺CD8 T cells was identified in AD patients, which was significantly elevated compared to healthy subjects (Suppl. Figure 5). In dupilumab-treated patients, the frequency of CRTH2⁺CD8⁺ T cells appears to decrease. Similar expression of HLA-DR, CXCR3, and CCR6 was observed on CD8 T cells between all three cohorts.



Figure 1. Elevated levels of activated memory TH2 cells are found in atopic dermatitis patients, despite a modest increase in Treg cells. PBMCs were thawed in cRPMI and rested for 2 hours prior to *ex vivo* staining for extracellular and intracellular markers. Multiparametric flow cytometry was used to measure the expression of each marker. Cells were gated for doublet exclusion, followed by live cells, and CD3+ T cells according to gating strategy. (a) Representative flow cytometry plot gated on memory (CD45RA-) CD4 T cells for subsequent analyses. Histograms from memory CD4 T cells depicting frequency of cells and level of expression (gMFI) for (b) activated T cells (c) TH2 cells (d) TH1 cells (e) TH17 cells. (f) Representative flow cytometry plot and histogram from total CD4 T cells depicting the proportion of Foxp3+Helios+ Tregs and level of Foxp3 expression (gMFI). Statistical significance was determined by a Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$, *** $P \le 0.001$.

Regulatory T (T_{REG}) cells are potent suppressors of hyperinflammatory responses and maintain immune homeostasis and self-tolerance¹³⁸. Currently, there are gaps and conflicting evidence regarding the immunoregulatory role of T_{REG} cells in AD. To determine whether the proportion of T_{REG} cells is altered, we quantified T_{REG} cells, defined as CD4⁺Foxp3⁺Helios⁺ T cells, as well as conventionally described as CD4⁺Foxp3⁺CD25^{HIGH}CD127^{LOW} T cells by flow cytometry. The proportion of CD4⁺Foxp3⁺Helios⁺ Treg cells was lowest in healthy subjects, with slight increased numbers detected in AD patients. Notably, this population was significantly increased in dupilumab-treated patients in remission, but only relative to healthy controls (Figure 1F). Higher level Foxp3 expression was observed in AD patients compared to healthy subjects. Comparably, the proportion of CD4⁺Foxp3⁺CD25^{HIGH}CD127^{LOW} Tregs in dupilumab treated patients was similar to Foxp3⁺Helios⁺ T cells.

Overall, we demonstrate that Treg cells are expanded in AD patients, regardless of treatment, compared to healthy subjects. Together, our findings demonstrate that adult AD patients have elevated levels of activated and memory T_{H2} cells, compared to healthy subjects, clarifying previous findings. Specifically, we demonstrate that memory T_{H2} cells are reduced following dupilumab treatment, however, expression of CRTH2 on the cell surface remains unchanged after treatment.

<u>Selective modulation of CRTH2⁺ T_H2 cells in dupixent-treated patients is specific to the skin-homing CLA⁺ compartment</u>

Skin-homing memory T cells express the cutaneous lymphocyte-associated antigen (CLA) known to mediate T cell migration to the skin, promoting inflammation in the context of AD¹¹⁰. Several studies have demonstrated that specific CLA⁺ T cell subsets, defined by IL-13, IFN- γ , IL-22 production, are crucial to drive disease activity in AD^{111, 178}. Despite their clear role in AD, the impact dupilumab treatment on skin-homing T cells has yet to be clarified. In addition, limited

studies have described CRTH2⁺ T cells in AD patients; Bakker et al., 2021 detected a minute frequency (~1%) of CLA⁺CRTH2⁺ T cells in untreated AD patients, which remained unchanged after dupilumab treatment¹⁷¹. Thus, in our long-term treatment cohort, we sought to identify and determine the persistence of these specific T cell subsets. We sought to characterize CLA⁺ (skinhoming) and CLA⁻ (non-skin homing) T cells in our cohorts (Figure 2a).

Although similar proportions of total $CLA^+ CD4$ were detected between all three cohorts, we observed a significantly higher frequency of CLA^+CD8 T cells in healthy subjects compared to AD patients (Figure 2b). Specifically, a significantly higher percentage of activated T cells and T_H2 cells were identified from the skin-homing CLA^+ group, but not CLA^- , in AD patients compared to healthy subjects (Figure 2 C and D). The overall frequency of activated T cells and T_H2 cells was higher in CLA^+ T cells compared to prior memory T cell group. In addition, increased cell surface expression of CRTH2 was observed in AD patients regardless of treatment in comparison to healthy subjects, while increased HLA-DR expression was only detected in AD patients compared to healthy subjects and lost in patients in remission, similar to findings in memory T cells (Figure 2c). In line with memory T cell populations, no differences were observed in CXCR3⁺ and CCR6⁺ from both CLA⁺ and CLA⁻ populations.

Amongst skin-homing CD8 T cells, we detected CRTH2-expressing CD8 T cells that were significantly increased in AD patients compared to healthy subjects, but appear to be lower in dupilumab treated patients (Figure 3A). Activated HLA-DR⁺ T cells were also significantly increased in untreated AD, which then proceeded to decrease after treatment (Figure 3A). Interestingly, these findings were not observed in the non-skin homing compartment, nor were any differences observed in CXCR3⁺ and CCR6⁺ populations from both CLA⁺ and CLA⁻ groups in

CD8 T cells. Collectively, this data indicates that a selective modulation in the skin-homing $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cell population is observed in AD patients.



Figure 2. Skin-homing (CLA⁺) TH2 cells remain elevated in dupilumab-treated atopic dermatitis patients. PBMCs were thawed in cRPMI and rested for 2 hours prior to *ex vivo* staining for extracellular and intracellular markers. Multiparametric flow cytometry was used to measure the expression of each marker. (a) Representative flow cytometry plot displaying CLA+ (top, beige) and CLA- (bottom, red) CD4 T cells for subsequent analyses. (b) Histogram showing proportion of CLA+ T cells from CD4 and CD8 T cells. (c) Histograms displaying TH2 and activated T cells from CLA+CD4+ T cells. (d) Histograms displaying TH2 and activated T cells from CLA-CD4+ T cells. Statistical significance was determined by a Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$, *** $P \le 0.001$, and **** $P \le 0.0001$.



Figure 3. Skin-homing CRTH2+CD8+ T cells are detected in atopic dermatitis patients. PBMCs were thawed in cRPMI and rested for 2 hours prior to *ex vivo* staining for extracellular and intracellular markers. Multiparametric flow cytometry was used to measure the expression of each marker. (a) Histograms showing the proportion of activated HLA-DR+, CRTH2+, CXCR3+ and CCR6+ from CLA+ CD8+ T cells. (b) Histograms showing the proportion of activated HLA-DR+, CRTH2+, CXCR3+ and CCR6+ from CLA+ CD8+ T cells. (b) Histograms showing the proportion of activated HLA-DR+, CRTH2+, CXCR3+ and CCR6+ from CLA- CD8+ T cells. Statistical significance was determined by a Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$, *** $P \le 0.001$, and **** $P \le 0.0001$.

Elevated TH2 and diminished TH1 responses are consistently observed in AD patients and patients after dupixent treatment.

Chronic inflammation in AD is mediated by both local and systemic type 2-associated cytokines, of which IL-13 plays a central role. Recent reports suggest the dominant role of IL-13 and its modulation in contrast to IL-4 in AD, therefore, we sought to investigate this dynamic in comparison to other T helper cells (TH1, TH17, Tregs) following long-term dupilumab treatment. To investigate functional cytokine profile, *ex vivo* PBMCs were stimulated with PMA/ionomycin/Golgi stop. Intracellular cytokine staining was performed for T_H2 (IL-4, IL-13), T_H1 (IFN- γ), T_H17 (IL-17) cytokines along with IL-2.

In atopic patients, a significantly greater proportion of IL-4⁺CD4⁺T cells, and significantly decreased proportion of IFN- γ^+ CD4⁺ T cells were found, compared to healthy subjects (Supplemental 7 A,B). Dupilumab treated patients had a similar proportion of IL-4⁺CD4⁺ T cells compared to AD patients (P value:0.7080), although this was not significantly different compared to healthy subjects (P value: 0.6258) (Supplemental 7 A,B). However, a consistent significant decrease in the proportion of IFN- γ^+ CD4 T cells were observed in dupilumab treated patients compared to healthy subjects (Supplemental 7 A,B). Amongst the total proportion of IL-13⁺CD4⁺ T cells, no significant differences were observed in AD or dupilumab-treated patients, however significantly higher IL-13 production (MFI) was observed in both AD and dupilumab-treated patients, compared to healthy subjects (Supplemental 7 A). No differences were detected in the frequency of IL-17 or IL-2-producing T cells or MFI (Supplemental 7C,D). A decreased T_H1/T_H2 ratio (IFN- γ IL-13 producing T cells) is observed in AD patients compared to healthy subjects (Supplemental 7 A). No differences were detected In the frequency of IL-17 or IL-2-producing T cells or MFI (Supplemental 7C,D). A decreased T_H1/T_H2 ratio (IFN- γ IL-13 producing T cells) is observed in AD patients compared to healthy subjects (Supplemental 7C,D). A decreased T_H1/T_H2 ratio (IFN- γ IL-13 producing T cells) is observed in AD patients compared to healthy subjects (Supplemental 7E). From CD8 T cells, fewer T_H2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-13), yet greater IFN- γ and IL-2-producing CD8⁺ T cells were detected from AD patients, with no significant differences

observed. Overall, this data demonstrates a persistent $T_H 2$ skew in the systemic compartment of AD patients, that is not normalized following dupixent treatment, despite clinical improvement.

Skin-homing T cells have persistent levels of IL-13 production from AD patients after dupilumab treatment

To further investigate polar T cell subset function, we stratified CLA⁺ (skin-homing) and CLA⁻ (non-skin homing) T cells (Figure 4A). Similar to total CD4⁺ cells (Supp Fig. 7), the proportion of IL-4⁺ CLA⁺CD4 T cells was significantly increased in AD patients compared to healthy subjects, with a trend towards an increase in dupilumab treated patients (P value= 0.0607). However, the level of IL-4 production was comparable between all groups (P value AD vs healthy= 0.0780; AD+dupilumab = 0.2356) (Figure 4B). Amongst non-skin homing T cells, the proportion of IL-4 producing cells and the level of cytokine production (MFI) remained unchanged between the three cohorts (Figure 4G). CLA+IL-13+CD4+ T cells are significantly expanded in AD patients compared to healthy subjects; this was not observed dupilumab-treated group, compared to untreated AD patients (P value= 0.3694) (Figure 4B). Despite this trend, significantly higher IL-13 production per CLA⁺CD4⁺ T cell (gMFI) is found in both patient cohorts, relative to healthy subjects (Figure 4B). While proportions of IL-13⁺ CD4⁺ T cells were very low and comparable across groups in the non-skin homing (CLA⁻) compartment, higher IL-13 (gMFI) per cell was noted in the treated cohort (Figure 4G). Lower proportion of skin-homing Th1 IFN-y producing T cells are found in AD patients (P=value 0.0723) and in the treatment cohort (P value=0.0561)(Figure 4 C and D), which is consistent with a decreased trend in CXCR3⁺ $T_{\rm H}1$ expression on memory CD4 T cells (Figure 1).

In CLA⁻CD4 T cells, a slight trend to defective T_H1 responses persists relative to healthy subjects (Figure 4H). Interestingly, AD patients produce slightly less IFN- γ (gMFI) in contrast to

healthy subjects, however, in the dupixent cohort, IFN- γ production is comparable with healthy subject levels. In contrast, CLA⁺IL-2 producing T cells were significantly higher in healthy subjects compared to dupilumab treated patients, while the level of cytokine production was similar between cohorts. Interestingly, no differences were observed in the frequency of CLA-IL-2 T cells, however, IL-2 production was strikingly higher in AD patients compared to both healthy subjects and dupilumab treated patients. Overall, a decreased T_H1/T_H2 ratio was observed in AD patients compared to healthy subjects (Figure 4F), and this skew is clearly notable in the CLA⁻ compartment (Figure 4K). Further, CD8 T cells were stratified between CLA⁺ and CLA⁻ to investigate cytokine production. In CLA⁺, but not CLA⁻, CD8 T cells, we detected elevated proportions of IL-13 producing cells (non-significant), yet significantly lower IFN- γ producing T cells from AD patients compared to healthy subjects (Figure 5B and C). Dupilumab treated patients appear to have lower proportions of CD8⁺IL-13⁺ T cells compared to untreated patients (non-significant, P value>0.9999) (Figure 5B). Overall, no differences were detected from CLA⁺ and CLA⁻ IL-2⁺ T cells between the three groups (Figure 5 D and G).

Thus, our data strongly indicates that IL-13 production from skin-homing CLA⁺ T cells persists following long-term treatment with dupilumab in AD patients, despite clinical remission, which may be one avenue to trigger disease relapse.



Figure 4. IL-13 and IL-4 producing skin-homing T cells remain elevated in dupilumab treated atopic dermatitis patients. PBMCs were thawed in cRPMI, rested for 2 hours, and stimulated with PMA/Ionomycin/Golgi Stop (3 hrs) for cytokine production. Intracellular staining for IL-4, IL-13, IFN- γ , IL-17 and IL-2 was performed *ex vivo* and measured by flow cytometry. Cytokine production from CLA+ and CLA- CD4 T cells was assessed. (a) Representative flow cytometry plot displaying CLA+ (beige) and CLA- (red) CD4 T cells for subsequent analyses. Histograms depicting frequency of cells and level of expression (gMFI) of (b) IL-4 and IL-13 (c) IFN-y (d) IL-17 and (e) IL-2, and (f) TH1/TH2 ratio from CLA+CD4+ T cells. Histograms depicting frequency of cells and level of (g) IL-4 and IL-13 (h) IFN-y (i) IL-17 and (j) IL-2, and (k) TH1/TH2 ratio from CLA-CD4+ T cells. Statistical significance was determined by a Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$, *** $P \le 0.001$, and **** $P \le 0.001$.



Figure 5. Skin-homing CD8+ IL-13 producing T cells are detected in atopic dermatitis patients. PBMCs were thawed in cRPMI, rested for 2 hours, and stimulated with PMA/Ionomycin/Golgi Stop (3 hrs) for cytokine production. Intracellular staining for IL-4, IL-13, IFN- γ , IL-17 and IL-2 was performed *ex vivo* and measured by flow cytometry. Cytokine production from CLA+ and CLA-CD4 T cells was assessed. (a) Representative flow cytometry plot displaying CLA+ (beige) and CLA- (red) CD4 T cells for subsequent analyses. Histograms depicting frequency of cells (b) IL-13 (c) IFN-y (d) IL-2 from CLA+CD4+ T cells. Histograms depicting frequency of cells (e) IL-13 (f) IFN-y (g) IL-2 CLA-CD4+ T cells. Statistical significance was determined by a Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$, *** $P \le 0.001$, and **** $P \le 0.0001$.

<u>Aim 3:</u>

<u>TSLP+SEB is sufficient to promote the expansion of IL-13 producing CD4 T cells and</u> non-conventional CD8⁺IL-13⁺ T cells

In our *ex vivo* study, elevated levels of circulating IL-13⁺T_H2 cells were found in AD patients, however, patients under remission with dupilumab presented with lower levels of these pathogenic cells. However, upstream molecular factors that contribute to the development of these pathogenic T cells in AD remain to be clarified. To understand the mechanisms leading to type 2 T cell development, we sought to test molecular factors promoting IL-13 type 2 T cell expansion in an inflammatory milieu recapitulating cutaneous environmental AD disease factors. Typically, *in vitro* generation of T_H2 cells is induced by IL-4 and anti- IFN- γ antibodies. Our lab's novel *in vitro* model expands human type 2 T cells in PBMC by mimicking key skin factors known to play pathogenic role in AD at the end-organ level.

We assessed the functional capacity of expanded T cells to produce IL-13 by intracellular cytokine detection. We used a case-control study of healthy and AD patients PMBCs, freshly cultured for 7 days in the presence of *S. aureus*-derived superantigen (SEB) +/- TSLP (Table 2). Following a 7-day culture, cells were restimulated and Intracellular cytokine staining was performed to detect IL-4, IL-13, and IFN- γ production. We found that TSLP+SEB significantly increases the proportion of IL-13 producing CD4⁺ T compared to control (untreated) (Figure 7B). Of note, TLSP+SEB is sufficient to increase IL-13⁺CD4⁺ T cells in PBMCs from both AD patients and healthy subjects. The level of IL-13 production (MFI) was also significantly higher in the TSLP+SEB condition compared to untreated (Figure 7B). Notably, in healthy subjects we also found IL-13⁺CD8⁺ T cells were also significantly increased in TSLP+SEB compared to untreated, (Figure 7C). The frequency of CD4⁺ IFN γ ⁺ T cells was lower in AD patients compared to healthy subjects, regardless of culture condition (Untreated vs TSLP vs SEB vs TSLP+SEB). Discrete

populations of CD4⁺ IL-13⁺ IFN- γ^{-} and CD4⁺IL-13⁻ IFN γ^{+} cells were detected, as were smaller proportions of polyfunctional polyclonal-like CD4⁺ IL-13⁺ IFN- γ^{+} T cells primarily in the SEB and TSLP+SEB condition. Thus, the robust increase of circulating IL-13⁺ T_H2 cells as well as CD8 T cells (Tc2) from AD patient blood following TSLP+SEB demonstrates the ability of these skin-associated molecular factors to promote expansion of pathogenic inflammatory T cell populations and contribute to disease persistence. This platform allows to further investigate whether persisting IL-13⁺T_H2 following treatment are capable of expanding and producing cytokines to the same capacity as baseline AD T cells.



Figure 6. In vitro TH2 expansion model.

	Patients with AD (n=10)	Healthy Subjects (n=8)
Age (yrs)	39 (21-60)	24 (21-27)
Sex (F/M)	7/1	6/2
Ethnicity		
European	4	3
Asian	4	1
Middle Eastern	N/A	3
lgE* (kU/L)	2044.33 (200-7327)	N/A
LDH (U/L)	215 (145-277)	N/A
EASI Score	16 (8.6-40.1)	NA
VigA	2.5 (2-4)	NA
BSA%	22.5 (8-70)	NA

Table 3. Laboratory and clinical data of AD patients and healthy subjects for *in vitro* TH2 expansion

Data are presented as means <u>+</u> SD unless otherwise specified.

*Reference range: 0 to 200 kU/L for adults

Objective measures:

EASI: Eczema Area and Severity Index VigA: Validated Investigator Global Assessment scale for AD BSA%: Body Surface Area affected



Figure 7. TSLP+SEB is sufficient to promote the expansion of IL-13 producing CD4 T cells and nonconventional CD8 IL-13+ T cells. PBMCs cultured with TSLP +/- SEB from AD patients and healthy subject were re-stimulated with PMA/Ionomycin/Golgi Stop for cytokine production. Intracellular staining for IL-13, and IFN- γ was performed and measured by flow cytometry. (a) Representative flow cytometry plots demonstrating proportion of IL-13 and IFN-y-producing cells. The proportion of cells expressing B) IL-13 and C) IFN-y, and level of cytokine production (MFI) is displayed through the histograms. Statistical significance was determined by a paired two-way ANOVA, followed by a Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. Experiments performed in duplicates or triplicates (N=10 AD; N=8 HS). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$, *** $P \le 0.001$, and **** $P \le 0.0001$.

Skin-mimicking inflammatory conditions enriches TH2 cells from adult patients with refractory disease.

We sought to further characterize in vitro enriched T_H2 cells. Cellular immunophenotyping of (HLA-DR), memory (CD45RO), T_H2 co-stimulatory (OX40, ICOS) and transcription factors (pSTAT6, GATA3) was performed by flow cytometry. A similar proportion of memory CD4 and CD8⁺ T cells were observed across all conditions between AD patients and healthy subjects (Figure 8B and C). The frequency of activated HLA-DR⁺CD4⁺ T cells from AD patients was significantly increased following TSLP+SEB compared to control, of note, TSLP and SEB alone was also sufficient to expand activated T cells from AD patients but not healthy subjects (Figure 8B). Costimulatory molecules including ICOS and OX40 are important in promoting T_H2 cell differentiation, therefore, we investigated the impact of TSLP+SEB on these factors. From CD4⁺ T cells, the proportion of both ICOS and OX40 expressing T cells were increased in the presence of TSLP+SEB compared to the untreated condition (Figure 9B), however, this pattern was only observed with OX40 on CD8 T cells. Finally, we quantified CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells expressing T_{H2} -associated transcriptions factors (pSTAT6, GATA3) in AD patients and healthy subjects (Figure 10). As expected, a high level of pSTAT6 expression was observed in both CD4 and CD8 T cells due to re-stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28/CD2. Interestingly, the proportion of GATA3⁺ CD4 T cells from AD patients, but not healthy subjects, expanded in the presence of TSLP+SEB compared to control. In summary, we demonstrate that AD skin-associated factors TSLP and SEB synergistically have the capacity to increase type 2 T cells from AD patients, and can be a potential target for new therapies.



Figure 8. Expansion of activated and memory CD4 T cells from AD patients following TSLP+SEB stimulation. PBMCs cultured with TSLP +/- SEB for 7-days from AD patients and healthy subject were restimulated with anti-CD3/CD8/CD2 for 24h prior to staining for cellular markers. Expression levels of each marker was measured by flow cytometry. (a) Representative flow cytometry plots depicting proportions of CD45RO, CD69, and HLA-DR+ CD4 T cells from each condition. Histograms representing the proportion of (b) CD4 T cells and (c) CD8 T cells expressing CD45RO+, CD69, and HLA-DR+ cells. Statistical significance was determined by a paired two-way ANOVA, followed by a Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. Experiments performed in duplicates or triplicates (N=10 AD; N=8 HS). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$, *** $P \le 0.001$.



Figure 9. Expression TH2-associated costimulatory markers from CD4 and CD8 T cells in adult AD patients with refractory disease relative to healthy control. PBMCs cultured with TSLP +/- SEB for 7-days from AD patients and healthy subject were re-stimulated with anti-CD3/CD8/CD2 for 24h prior to staining for cellular markers. Expression levels of each marker was measured by flow cytometry. (a) Representative flow cytometry plots depicting proportions of ICOS and OX40+ CD4 T cells from each condition. (b) Histograms representing the proportion of ICOS+ and OX40+ expressing CD4 and CD8 T cells. Statistical significance was determined by a paired two-way ANOVA, followed by a Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. Experiments performed in duplicates or triplicates (N=10 AD; N=8 HS). $*P \le 0.05$, $**P \le 0.01$, $***P \le 0.001$.



Figure 10. Skin-mimicking inflammatory conditions expand TH2 cells from adult patients with refractory disease compared to healthy subjects. PBMCs cultured with TSLP +/- SEB for 7-days from AD patients and healthy subject were re-stimulated with anti-CD3/CD8/CD2 for 24h prior to staining for cellular markers. Expression levels of each marker was measured by flow cytometry. (a) Representative flow cytometry plots depicting proportions of pSTAT6 and GATA3+ CD4 T cells from each condition. (b) Histograms representing the proportion of pSTAT6+ and GATA3+ expressing CD4 and CD8 T cells without stimulation. Statistical significance was determined by a paired two-way ANOVA, followed by a Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. Experiments performed in duplicates or triplicates (N=10 AD; N=8 HS). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.001$, and **** $P \le 0.0001$.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES



Suppl. Figure 1. Gating strategy for phenotypic/cytokine analyses. Acquired cells were gated for single cells, lymphocytes, and live cells . CD4+ and CD8+ T cells were gated from CD3+ T cells for subsequent analyses.



Suppl. Figure 2. Detection of TH1, TH2, and TH17 cells from peripheral blood of adult atopic dermatitis patients. Whole blood was collected from healthy subjects (n=10), AD patients (n=16), and AD patients on dupixent treatment (n=12), and PBCMs were isolated using FicoII gradient centrifugation and frozen. Cells were thawed in cRPMI and rested for 2 hours prior to *ex vivo* staining for extracellular and intracellular markers. Multiparametric flow cytometry was used to measure the expression of each marker. Cells were gated for doublet exclusion, followed by live cells, and CD3+ T cells depicting frequency of cells and level of expression (gMFI) for (a) activated T cells (b) TH2 cells (c) TH1 cells (d) TH17 cells. Statistical significance was determined by a Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric). $*P \le 0.05$, $**P \le 0.01$, $***P \le 0.001$, and $****P \le 0.0001$.

Total CD8 T cells



Suppl. Figure 3. Detection of CD8 T cells from peripheral blood of adult atopic dermatitis patients. Whole blood was collected from healthy subjects (n=10), AD patients (n=16), and AD patients on dupixent treatment (n=12), and PBCMs were isolated using Ficoll gradient centrifugation and frozen. Cells were thawed in cRPMI and rested for 2 hours prior to *ex vivo* staining for extracellular and intracellular markers. Multiparametric flow cytometry was used to measure the expression of each marker. Cells were gated for doublet exclusion, followed by live cells, and CD3+ T cells according to gating strategy. Histograms from total CD8 T cells depicting frequency of cells (a) HLA-DR+(b) CRTH2+ (c) CXCR3+ (d) CCR6+. Statistical significance was determined by a Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric). $*P \le 0.05$, $**P \le 0.01$, $***P \le 0.001$, and $****P \le 0.0001$.



Suppl. Figure 4. Naïve and memory T cells from peripheral blood of adult atopic dermatitis patients. Cells were thawed in cRPMI and rested for 2 hours prior to *ex vivo* staining for extracellular and intracellular markers. Multiparametric flow cytometry was used to measure the expression of each marker. Cells were gated for doublet exclusion, followed by live cells, and CD3+ T cells according to gating strategy. Representative histograms from total CD4 and CD8 T cells depicting naïve (CD45RA+) and memory (CD45RA-) T cells.


Suppl. Figure 5. CRTH2+ expressing CD8 T cells are elevated in AD patients. PBMCs were thawed in cRPMI and rested for 2 hours prior to *ex vivo* staining for extracellular and intracellular markers. Multiparametric flow cytometry was used to measure the expression of each marker. Cells were gated for doublet exclusion, followed by live cells, and CD3+ T cells according to gating strategy. (a) Representative flow cytometry plot gated on memory (CD45RA-) CD4 T cells for subsequent analyses. Histograms from memory CD8 T cells depicting frequency of (b) HLA-DR+ (c) CRTH2+ (d) CXCR3+ (e) CCR6+. Statistical significance was determined by a Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$, *** $P \le 0.001$, and **** $P \le 0.0001$.



Suppl. Figure 6. Higher proportion of Treg cells detected in dupixent-treated AD patients compared to healthy subjects. Whole blood was collected from healthy subjects (n=10), AD patients (n=16), and AD patients on dupixent treatment (n=12), and PBCMs were isolated using FicoII gradient centrifugation and frozen. Cells were thawed in cRPMI and rested for 2 hours prior to *ex vivo* staining for extracellular and intracellular markers. Multiparametric flow cytometry was used to measure the expression of each marker. (a) Representative flow cytometry plots and histograms from total CD4 T cells depicting frequency of CD25highCD127low T cells and level of Foxp3 expression (gMFI). (b) Histograms representing %Treg cells. Statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA (Kruskal-Wallis test). $*P \le 0.05$, $**P \le 0.01$, $***P \le 0.001$, and $****P \le 0.0001$.



Suppl. Figure 7. Elevated TH2 and diminished TH1 responses are consistently observed in AD patients. PBMCs were thawed in cRPMI, rested for 2 hours, and stimulated with PMA/Ionomycin/Golgi Stop (3 hrs) for cytokine production. Intracellular staining for IL-4, IL-13, IFN- γ , IL-17 and IL-2 was performed *ex vivo* and measured by flow cytometry. Cytokine production from total CD4 T cells was assessed. Representative flow cytometry plot and histograms from total CD4 T cells depicting frequency of cells and level of expression (gMFI) of (a) IL-4 and IL-13 (b) IFN- γ (c) IL-17 and (d) IL-2. (e) Histogram displaying TH1/TH2 ratio. Statistical significance was determined by a Kruskal-Wallis test (non-parametric). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$, *** $P \le 0.001$, and **** $P \le 0.0001$.



Suppl. Figure 8. Expansion of activated and memory CD4 T cells from AD patients following TSLP+SEB stimulation. PBMCs cultured with TSLP +/- SEB for 7-days from AD patients and healthy subject were re-stimulated with anti-CD3/CD8/CD2 for 24h prior to staining for cellular markers. Expression levels of each marker was measured by flow cytometry. (a) Representative flow cytometry plots depicting proportions of CD45RO and HLA-DR+ CD4 T cells from each condition. (b) Histograms representing the number of CD45RO+, HLA-DR+, and CD69 expressing CD4 T cells. (c) Histograms representing the number of CD45RO+, HLA-DR+, and CD69 expressing CD8 T cells. Statistical significance was determined by a paired two-way ANOVA, followed by a Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. Experiments performed in duplicates or triplicates (N=10 AD; N=8 HS). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$, *** $P \le 0.001$, and **** $P \le 0.0001$.



Suppl. Figure 9. Expression TH2-associated costimulatory markers from CD4 and CD8 T cells in adult AD patients with refractory disease relative to healthy control. PBMCs cultured with TSLP +/- SEB for 7-days from AD patients and healthy subject were re-stimulated with anti-CD3/CD8/CD2 for 24h prior to staining for cellular markers. Expression levels of each marker was measured by flow cytometry. (a) Representative flow cytometry plots depicting proportions of ICOS and OX40+ CD4 T cells from each condition. (b) Histograms representing the number of ICOS+ and OX40+ expressing CD4 and CD8 T cells. Statistical significance was determined by a paired two-way ANOVA, followed by a Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. Experiments performed in duplicates or triplicates (N=10 AD; N=8 HS). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.001$, *** $P \le 0.001$.



Α

Suppl. Figure 10. Skin-mimicking inflammatory conditions expand TH2 cells from adult patients with refractory disease compared to healthy subjects. PBMCs cultured with TSLP +/- SEB for 7-days from AD patients and healthy subject were re-stimulated with anti-CD3/CD8/CD2 for 24h prior to staining for cellular markers. Expression levels of each marker was measured by flow cytometry. (a) Representative flow cytometry plots depicting proportions of pSTAT6 and GATA3+ CD4 T cells from each condition. (b) Histograms representing the number of pSTAT6+ and GATA3+ expressing CD4 and CD8 T cells. Statistical significance was determined by a paired two-way ANOVA, followed by a Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. Experiments performed in duplicates or triplicates (N=10 AD; N=8 HS). * $P \le 0.05$, ** $P \le 0.01$, *** $P \le 0.001$.

Marker	Fluorochrome	Marker	Fluorochrome	Marker	Fluorochrome
Viability	Efluor780	Viability	Efluor780	Viability	Efluor780
CD4	APC	CD4	Alexa700	CD4	FITC
CD8	PerCP-Cy5.5	CD8	V500	CD8	V500
CD3	BV786	CD3	BV786	CD3	BV786
CD45RA	Alexa700	CLA	FITC	CD45RA	Alexa700
CLA	FITC			CRTH2	BV711
GATA3	BUV395	IL-13	PE	FOXP3	PE
CRTH2	PE-CF594	IL-4	APC	CD25	APC
CXCR3	BV421	IFN-y	PE-Cy7	CD127	Texas Red
CCR6	PE-Cy7	IL-17a	V450	Helios	Pacific Blue
HLA-DR	V500	IL-2	Per-CP	CTLA-4	Per-CP-Cy 5.5

Table 4. Ex vivo Flow Cytometry Panels

Antibody	Fluorophore	Clone
Anti-CD8	PerCP-Cy5.5	RPA-T8
Anti-GATA3	BUV395	L50-823
Anti-CRTH2	PE-CF594	BM16
Anti-CXCR3	BV421	562558
Anti-CD8	V500	RPA-T8
Anti-IL-13	PE	JES10-5A2
Anti- IL-4	APC	8D4-8
Anti- IFN-y	PE-Cy7	4S.B3
Anti-IL-17a	V450	N49-653
Anti- IL-2	PerCP-Cy5.5	MQ1-17H12
Anti-CD4	FITC	RPA-T4
Anti-FOXP3	PE	236A/E7
Anti-CD25	APC	2A3
Anti-CD4	APC	RPA-T4
Anti-CD3	BV786	OKT3
Anti-CD45RA	Alexa700	HI100
Anti-CLA	FITC	HECA-452
Anti-CCR6	PE-Cy7	G034E3
Anti-Helios	Pacific Blue	22F6
Anti-CD4	AF700	RPA-T4
Anti-CD127	Texas Red	eBioRDR5
Anti-HLA-DR	V500	G46-6
Viability Dye	Eflour780	

Table 5. Antibody catalogue

DISCUSSION

While several studies have demonstrated the clinical efficacy of dupilumab to significantly ameliorate AD disease severity and patient-reported outcomes¹⁷⁹⁻¹⁸³, cessation of dupilumab treatment has been associated with disease reactivation in patients¹⁸⁴. Limited research has been performed to assess the long-term effects of dupilumab in AD patients, specifically to see whether subsets of IL-13⁺ T cells persist following long-term treatment. Our cross-sectional study successfully characterized heterogeneous T cell populations, specifically polar T cells/type 2 cells, contributing to chronic, unremitting moderate-to-severe disease in adult AD patients. Our findings demonstrate that circulating activated T cells and T_H2 cells persist in AD patients despite achieving clinical remission on dupilumab. Specifically, we show that severe AD patients have significantly higher levels of memory CRTH2⁺T_H2 cells compared to healthy subjects, found exclusive to skinhoming (CLA⁺) T cells. Following dupilumab treatment, a persistent level of IL-13 production (MFI) in skin-homing T cells was observed in the systemic compartment of AD patients, which was not normalized following dupilumab treatment, despite clinical improvement. This may be a potential avenue to trigger disease relapse. Using our in vitro model composed of TSLP+SEB, we demonstrate that the combination of TSLP+SEB is sufficient to induce IL-13 production, Th2 transcription factors, as well as co-stimulatory receptor expression from CD4 and CD8 T cells of AD patients and healthy subjects.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to have investigated the long-term effects (>52 weeks) of dupilumab treatment on residual disease activity in AD patients. In-depth characterization with chemokine receptors (CRTH2, CXCR3, CCR6) was used to detect T helper subsets (T_{H1} , T_{H2} , T_{H17} , T_{REG}), while intracellular cytokine production revealed their functional capacity to produce cytokines (IL-4, IL-13, IFN- γ , IL-17, IL-2). Consistent with previous studies, our disease cohort of AD patients, treated or untreated, had deviations in the T_{H2} axis, specifically

increased IL-13 production and elevated CRTH2 receptor expression (MFI), with decreased T_{H1} cell activity demonstrated by lower IFN- γ production, and stable Tregs levels, suggesting that the latter subsets may play a role in disease maintenance or improvement.

Prostaglandin D2 (PGD₂) is a lipid mediator derived from arachidonic acid, primarily produced by IgE-activated mast cells, as well as dendritic cells, macrophages, eosinophils, T helper type 2 (Th2) cells, and endothelial cells during allergic inflammation¹⁸⁵. PGD₂ exerts its effects through two receptors: D- prostanoid (DP1) and CRTH2. PGD₂-DP1 signaling leads to downstream effects of vasodilation, smooth muscle relaxation, and inhibition of platelet aggregation and cell migration¹⁰⁴. In contrast, binding of PGD2 to CRTH2, an inhibitory G-protein coupled receptor, inhibits cAMP production, which initiates a cascade of signaling events which lead to an increase of Ca2⁺ influx, resulting in migration and activation of mast cells, eosinophils, and T_H2 cells, and increased production of inflammatory cytokines (IL-4, IL-5, IL-13)¹⁰⁴. While many studies have investigated the pathological role of CRTH2 in asthma, conflicting findings are available on the contributory role of CRTH2 in AD⁶⁴. It has been reported that CRTH2-deficient mice exhibited lower infiltration of TH2 cells following epicutaneous challenge in an OVAinduced AD murine model⁶¹. In addition, CRTH2 is necessary for the chemotaxis of ILC2s, which may be important players of inflammation in AD skin, however, a recent clinical trial of a CRTH2 antagonist did not demonstrate any clinical efficacy in AD¹⁸⁶. In humans, CRTH2 is described as the most reliable marker to detect $T_H 2$ cells ¹⁸⁷, therefore, we employed this marker to identify $T_H 2$ cells in our cohort of AD patients.

We demonstrate that severe AD patients have significantly higher levels skin- homing memory $CRTH2^+T_H2$ cells compared to healthy subjects. In our study, patients treated with dupilumab appear to have decreased proportions of skin homing $CRTH2^+T_H2$ cells relative to

untreated AD patients. Contrary to our findings, Bakker et al. detected no differences in CLA^+CRTH2^+ T cells amongst healthy subjects, baseline AD patients, and dupilumab treated patients (4, 16, 52 weeks) ¹⁷¹. This difference may be explained by varying disease severity between cohorts, as their cohort had moderate AD (EASI: 16.8) compared to our AD patients with severe disease (EASI 23.6). Nevertheless, this suggests that CRTH2 may be used as a biomarker to identify severe AD. In addition, our study demonstrated that CRTH2 expression levels (MFI) in patients treated with dupilumab remains elevated and equal to levels found in untreated AD patients, compared to healthy subjects. A higher abundance of CRTH2 receptor on T_H2 cells would facilitate binding of PGD2 secreate from leukocytes, inducing a stronger downstream signal to secreate greater levels of IL-13, IL-4, and IL-5, and promote migration of T_H2 to inflamed skin¹⁸⁸. ¹⁸⁹. IL-4Ra blockade by dupilumab can directly inhibit the differentiation of naïve T cells into T_H2 cells ⁸², however, its impact on existing T_H2 cells function must further be determined.

Recently, Bangert et al. investigated whether tissue-resident immune memory persists in the resolved skin of patients (mean reduction in EASI from baseline of 72.0% and 88.8% by 16 weeks and 1 year treated with dupilumab) after short-term and long-term dupilumab treatment (16 weeks and 1 year)¹⁰⁹. Through sc-RNAseq analysis of skin suction blisters (i.e. epidermis), they demonstrated active PTGDR2 gene expression (i.e. CRTH2) in skin of clinical resolved AD patients after one year of dupilumab treatment, which was absent in healthy subjects¹⁰⁹. Immunofluorescence also identified the persistence of CD3⁺CRTH2⁺ cells, defined as "Th2A", in the epidermis of dupilumab treated patients¹⁰⁹. Our results from peripheral blood demonstrate that a proportion of CLA⁺CRTH2⁺TH2⁺ cells, with unchanged CRTH2 cell surface expression persist in dupilumab treated patients compared to healthy subjects, which are in line with these findings. This suggests that these cells may migrate to the skin for long-term residence, however, additional work is required to identify these cells with tissue-resident markers including CD69 and CD103. Contrary to the strict dogma that tissue-resident cells are solely compartmentalized in peripheral tissues, Klicznik et al. have demonstrated that healthy human CD4⁺CLA⁺ CD69⁺CD103⁺ T_{RM} cells in skin have the ability to downregulate CD69, to exit from the skin into the systemic circulation¹⁹⁰. In addition, they detected that a population of CD4⁺CLA⁺CD103⁺ T cells from blood is clonally similar to that found skin amongst the same donors, and can recirculate back to the skin. Skinspecific host antigens released following tissue damage may be a source of antigen for circulating T cells in chronic AD¹⁹¹. As previously described, serum IgE levels are elevated in the majority of AD patients, with variable specificity to antigens, including aeroallergens in sensitized individuals and, frequently, S. aureus-derived superantigens¹⁹². Bystander activation of T cells through superantigens, especially S. aureus SEB, has the potential to act to drive chronic inflammation in AD^{191, 193}.IgE autoantibodies found in AD patients have also been found to react to human keratinocyte proteins including Hom S 1-5, as well as human manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD), RP1, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 6 (eIF6), dense fine speckles (DFS), and human thioredoxins (hTrx)¹⁹¹. This provides an exciting avenue to investigate skin-resident cells in AD through the systemic circulation, overcoming the barrier of skin-tissue samples needed from patients.

In a murine allergic contact inflammation model of human AD, inhibition of CRTH2 prevented edema formation, reduced inflammatory cell infiltration and skin pathology, and repressed inflammatory cytokine gene expression in experimental mice¹⁹⁴, suggesting its role in mediating allergic-inflammation. CRTH2 inhibitors, fevipiprant (Clinicaltrials.gov Identifier: NCT01785602) and temapiprant (Clinicaltrials.gov Identifier: NCT02002208), were clinically tested in phase 2 trials for improvement of moderate to severe AD in adults for 12 and 16 weeks

respectively. Patients received oral treatment (fevipiprant or temapiprant) vs placebo; primary outcome was a significant change in EASI score from baseline between intervention vs placebo. Each trial failed to reach primary endpoint ¹⁹⁵. However, these inhibitors demonstrate clinical efficacy to improve asthma or eosinophilic diseases¹⁹⁶, suggesting that patients with intrinsic AD, characterized by high IgE levels and eosinophilia, may experience therapeutic benefits with a CRTH2 inhibitor.

Major histocompability complex (MHC) class II antigen, HLA-DR, is a marker of chronic T cell activation that is known to increase in autoimmune diseases as well as with age in healthy adults^{197, 198}. In patients with AD, infants had similar levels of HLA-DR expression compared to healthy subjects, with an increase in AD children and adolescents with age. However, adult AD patients have been found to have significant higher levels of HLA-DR expressing CLA⁺/CLA⁻ CD4 and CD8 T cells¹⁷⁷. Consistent with previous findings, our data demonstrates that chronic AD patients have greater frequencies of CLA⁺HLA-DR⁺ CD4 and CD8 T cells relative to healthy subjects, however, this is absent in CLA⁻ populations¹¹². Of note, we show that, despite clinical improvement, dupilumab treatment does not fully normalize the proportion of activated T cells within CD4 T cells, as the levels remain higher than healthy subjects. In treated patients, a decrease in HLA-DR expression was observed in skin-homing CD4 T cells compared to untreated patients. As age was not a confounding factor between the three cohorts (no significant differences observed), this observation is in line with changes associated with chronic inflammation, and not simply increase in HLA-DR⁺T cells due to aging¹⁹⁹. Upon recognition of a foreign or skin-derived self-peptide such as S. aureus derived SEB, chronically activated HLA-DR⁺ skin-homing T cells will rapidly mount an inflammatory response that may become uncontrolled following discontinuation of treatment.

T_{REG} cells are critical regulators of hyperinflammatory responses and self-tolerance, however, their ability to control inflammation in human AD remains unclear. Numerous studies demonstrate the expansion of Treg cells in lesional skin or peripheral blood in AD patients compared to healthy subjects ^{200, 201}, however, there is conflicting evidence to suggest reduced capacity of Treg cells to produce suppressive cytokines and control proliferation of effector T cells^{148, 202} versus CD25^{high} Treg cells to have a "T_H2 cell" phenotype. Bakker et al. recently found that CD25⁺FOXP3⁺ CD4⁺ Treg cells increase from baseline to 52 weeks of dupilumab treatment¹⁷¹. Our results are in line with these findings and show following long-term (2.28 years) treatment with dupilumab, patients have increased proportions of Foxp3⁺Helios⁺CD4⁺ Treg cells, compared to healthy subjects and this is comparable to untreated AD patients. In addition, the level of FOXP3 expression per Treg cell is greater in AD patients. Expanded Treg cells may be opposing the persistent IL-13 effector T cell response to maintain clinical remission in dupilumab treated patients, as viewed by improved disease severity measures. Treg cells in AD patients may also be contributing to maintenance of remission in the presence of chronically activated HLA-DR⁺T cells. Additional work must be performed to assess the suppressive capacities and cytokine profile of Treg cells in dupilumab treated patients.

Amongst other T_{H2} cytokines, IL-13 has been well described to have a preferential role to mediate disease activity in AD^{14, 151, 152}. Previous literature has demonstrated that skin-homing IL-13 producing T cells are increased in AD patients compared to healthy subjects ^{111, 203}. Limited literature is available with regards to modulation of the immune system following any systemic or biologic therapy for AD. Following oral cyclosporine treatment of 2 and 12 weeks, patients experienced clinical improvement (SCORAD), as well as significant downregulation in IL-13 mRNA within lesional skin¹⁶⁷. However, persistent IL-13⁺ T cells, especially in the systemic compartment, following dupilumab has not been well characterized. In line with previously published research, our cohort of untreated AD patients have increased levels of both skin-homing IL-4 and IL-13⁺CD4⁺ T cells compared to healthy subjects. In comparison, no significant differences were observed in CLA⁺CD8 T cells between untreated AD patients, treated AD patients, and healthy subjects. In addition, we observed that patients under dupilumab treatment in clinical remission appear to have lower frequencies of skin-homing IL-13 producing CD4 and CD8 T cells. We sought to further determine the level of IL-13 production (MFI) by T cells, as this will impact the degree of inflammatory response during relapse and to compare whether differences are observed following dupilumab treatment. Persistent levels of IL-13 production from skin-homing T cells was detected after dupilumab treatment. Surprisingly, this was also observed from non-skin homing T cells, whereas differences for other cytokines were not observed in CLA⁻ T cells.

In line with our findings, Bangert et al. recently reported that the frequency of IL-13⁺CD4⁺ T cells (scRNA-seq) in AD skin and IL-13 protein in skin blister fluid was significantly elevated after a year of dupilumab treatment compared to healthy subjects^{14, 109}. Maintenance of elevated skin IL-13 levels in patients under remission remains to be elucidated.. Given that skin injury triggers a release of alarmins, which can promote IL-13 production, it is possible that sub-clinical inflammation in lesional skin may result in the secretion of these upstream regulators⁴⁴. As high IL-13 levels are evidenced in patients, therapy with Tralokinumab, or a newly labelled Lebrikizumab, both IL-13 neutralizing antibodies²⁰⁴, is a promising therapeutic avenue. While combination therapies are currently beyond the capacity of health systems, it may be ideal to target both receptor and cytokine in parallel. In addition to persistent IL-13, Bangert et al. found that levels of IL-22 and IL-26 remained high compared to healthy subjects, following dupilumab

treatment¹⁰⁹. Both IL-22 and IL-26 are a part of the IL-10 cytokine family and are involved in tissue homeostasis during infection, upregulation of innate and adaptive immune, and tissue repair²⁰⁵. IL-26 is a newly discovered cytokine that induces inflammatory cytokine production, but also serves as a carrier for extracellular DNA and exhibits antimicrobial properties²⁰⁶. Whether additional factors, such as IL-22 and IL-26, are involved in disease persistence requires further research in order to develop effective combination therapies for a heterogeneous disease like AD.

Thus, persistent levels of IL-13 production, even in the systemic circulation, following long-term treatment with dupilumab provides evidence of residual disease activity, and highlights a potential mechanism of relapse in patients if medication is discontinued. To thoroughly address residual disease, we would need to investigate a cohort of adult AD patients before and after therapy in remission, and perform analyses on blood and skin to identify changes in immune signature. Amongst skin-homing CD4 T cells, no significant differences were observed in the proportion of IL-17 producing cells between healthy subjects, and untreated/treated AD patients, which correlated with our findings of CCR6 expression in memory CD4 T cells. The frequency CLA⁺IL-17⁺ CD4 T cells found in our cohort AD patients are similar to that described in the literature. T_H2 and T_H17 cells have been previously characterized to have reciprocal regulation of inflammatory pathways, which supports the low frequency of T_H17 cells yet high T_H2 cells in our findings²⁰⁷⁻²⁰⁹.

Furthermore, we demonstrate that AD patients and dupilumab treated patients consistently have lower proportions of skin-homing IFN- γ and IL-2-producing cells, compared to healthy subjects. IL-2 is essential for T cell proliferation, differentiation, and survival, and is required nTREG cell development in the thymus (1, 11). The IL-2 receptor (i.e. CD25) is composed of an alpha, beta, and gamma chain; together they chains form the high affinity IL-2 receptor (12). On naïve T cells, the IL-2Rb and g chains are constitutively expressed having an intermediate affinity for IL-2. Upon antigen presentation on TCR, T cells rapidly express IL-2Ra on its surface which forms a complex with IL-2Rb and g to obtain the high affinity IL-2 receptor (14). In contrast, Treg cells constitutively express IL-2Ra, which allow them to consume IL-2 to maintain Foxp3 expression (1). Our cohort of patients and healthy subjects have similar proportions of IL-2 producing CD4 T cells (~30%), and this is also observed when skin-homing T cells are stratified. Here, IL-2 may be contributing to the development and maintenance of Treg cells, but also potentiating survival of other T helper cells (TH2, TH1, TH17) in untreated patients and patients treated with dupilumab.

Contrary to our findings, Bakker et al. observed increased IFN- γ producing cells in AD vs healthy subjects, with no changes detected in patients followed dupilumab treatment¹⁷¹. We observed less IFN- γ production from CLA⁺CD4⁺ T cells in AD patients compared to healthy subjects. However, following treatment with dupilumab, CLA⁺CD4⁺Th1 cells produced significantly higher levels of IFN- γ compared to untreated AD patients, regaining MFI per cell that is similar to healthy subjects. A T_H1/T_H2 balance is required to maintain protective immunity and not be predisposed to autoimmune or allergic diseases²¹⁰. Our data suggests that dupilumab may reset or normalize IFN- γ production per cell, thereby slightly restoring the T_H1/T_H2 deviation and contributing to improved disease symptoms. Recently, a study assessed the clinical relapse rate of AD patients following discontinuation of dupilumab (after 6 months of treatment)¹⁷². The exacerbation group (7/22) experienced relapse after ~ 15.6 ± 2.4 weeks , while the remission group (15/22) remained in remission for 40.5 ± 4.6 weeks after discontinuation¹⁷². Investigating the changes that occur in T cell subsets during remission and at relapse is critical to identify the cellular drivers of disease reactivation. Some limitations of this work include the lack of ability to monitor medication adherence on a per patient basis. Although this was a cross-sectional study, the homogeneity within each cohort provided the ability to detect differences within T helper cell subsets. While the adult patients included in this study are representative of cohorts included in multinational clinical trials, larger cohorts are needed to fully understand the range of immune responses that may be found in specific ethnic populations and/or age sub-groups. In addition, while EASI scores were similar between untreated AD patients and baseline EASI scores of the dupilumab treated cohort (i.e. similar disease severity at baseline), our study had different cohorts of patients between untreated and dupilumab treatment (unmatched). Therefore, a longitudinal study would be required to follow the same set of patients from baseline to remission to identify changes in the immune landscape.

Thus, our study reveals that despite long-term treatment with dupilumab, AD patients have residual and persistent levels of IL-13 producing T_{H2} cells compared to healthy subjects. While these patients are under remission, the factors perpetuating the maintenance of this T cell subset remains to be clarified.

To determine the skin-associated molecular factors promoting IL-13⁺ T_H2 expansion in AD, we used our *in vitro* model to induce IL-13⁺ T_H2 cells in an inflammatory milieu recapitulating cutaneous environmental AD disease factors. Our model employs TSLP, a skin-associated alarmin produced by keratinocytes, that is strongly implicated in the generation and expansion of T_H2 cells in AD, and *S. aureus* derived enterotoxin B, given that 75-90% of AD lesional skin is known to be colonized with *S. aureus*, which primarily produces SEB compared to other enterotoxins in AD skin²¹¹⁻²¹⁴.

Intracellular cytokine staining revealed that TSLP+SEB was sufficient to expand IL-13⁺ CD4 and CD8 T cells from AD and healthy subjects. Conventionally, *in vitro* T_H2 differentiation requires artefactual antibodies including anti- IFN- γ and essential cytokines IL-4 and IL-2. Here, we demonstrate that our novel *in vitro* model, consisting of TSLP and SEB, is capable of generating type 2 T cells responses without artefactual TH1 blockade, foreign antigens, and expensive purification of DCs.

While no differences in IFN- γ proportions between stimulatory conditions were observed, AD patients appear to have decreased IFN- γ^+ CD4⁺ T cells compared to healthy subjects, which is similar to our ex vivo findings observed in untreated AD patients, compared to healthy subjects. In addition, we demonstrate that the combination of TSLP+SEB synergistically increases the level of IL-13 production (MFI) from AD patients, compared to untreated control or each factor alone. This suggests SEB superantigen activation of T cells in parallel with TSLP would promote IL-13 production, to further exacerbate disease in AD patients. We also show that these expanded T_H2 cells express T_H2 transcription factors (pSTAT6, GATA3), and makers of memory (CD45RO), activation (HLA-DR), and TH2-associated costimulatory factors (ICOS, OX40). Our in vitro model promotes the expression of co-stimulatory receptors ICOS and OX40, which are important factors in the development of T_H2 cells, as seen in AD patients¹⁷⁷. Currently, there are two monoclonal antibodies (rocatinlimab and amlitelimab) in trials targeting OX40:OX40L axis; both have demonstrated clinical improvement (reduction in EASI) from baseline compared to placebo, which were safe and tolerated by patients ^{215, 216}. Further, stimulation with TSLP+SEB can increase the expression of master transcription factors pSTAT6 and GATA of T_H2 cells, allowing us to further investigate these cells in a disease context without the use of artefactual antibodies. Finally, our *in vitro* findings are consistent with our *ex vivo* data where AD patients had elevated levels of activated T cells and memory cells compared to healthy subjects, suggesting that our can capture key features found in AD patients blood.

Multiple *in vitro* models of AD are now available to investigate disease etiology, however, they pose challenges as a single model cannot recapitulate both immune dysregulations and epidermal barrier alterations²¹⁷.One study demonstrated that TSLP induced increased IL-4 production from skin-homing T_H2 cells of adult AD patients (peripheral blood) compared to healthy subjects ⁴². As IL-4 is an essential cytokine required for T_H2 differentiation, and not produced by dendritic cells, TSLP-induced IL-4 production rapidly promotes this process¹⁷⁵. Another study showed that PMBCs, from children with AD, cultured with SEB produced high levels of IFN- γ and IL-4 as measured by ELISA²¹⁸. To our knowledge, this is the first work demonstrate the combinatory effects of TSLP and SEB stimulation on cytokine production from AD patients PBMCs. Recently, a SEB-activated coculture model of purified CLA⁺ T cells and lesional epidermal cells showed increased IL-13 production from few AD patients.

Whether TSLP+SEB can induce IL-13 production from skin-homing SEB-specific V β T cells of AD patients must further be investigated in our model, since this will identify whether SEB-specific V β T cells are the major source of IL-13 in AD and further serve as a therapeutic target. Immune regulation mediated by Treg cells can also be hindered by superantigen activation as skin-homing CD4⁺FOXP3⁺ Treg cells were found to exert T_H2 properties through production of more IL-5, but less IL-10 ²¹⁹. Investigations on the impact of TSLP+SEB on Treg cell function must be performed. Limitations of this *in vitro* data includes a small sample size with variation, therefore, additional patients must be included into the cohort. In addition, while we observed an increase in cell number following TSLP+SEB treatment, it would be important to address initial

numbers of T_{H2} cells at the beginning of the 7-day culture. Finally, we collected supernatants from *in vitro* cultures (4 conditions), and will perform a multiplex ELISA to determine the levels of secreted cytokines.

CONCLUSION

In this present study, we aimed to investigate whether type 2 responses persist in adult AD patients following long-term treatment with dupilumab. Using multiparametric flow cytometry, we sought to characterize T helper cell populations, specifically IL-13⁺T cells, found *ex vivo* in peripheral blood of AD patients and patients treated with dupilumab. We also examined skin-derived factors that may contribute to T_{H2} cell increase in AD patients. Our results demonstrate that activated HLA-DR⁺ and memory CRTH2⁺ T_{H2} cells are elevated in AD patients, and persist following dupilumab treatment. Importantly, our data demonstrate persistent IL-13 production in AD patients after long-term treatment with dupilumab. T_{H1} cytokine production was also increased in patients after dupilumab treatment, back to baseline levels. In addition, we showed that TSLP+SEB is sufficient to expand IL-13⁺CD4⁺T cells from AD patients. Our findings provide definite evidence on residual disease activity after long-term treatment (2.28 years) with dupilumab, contributing to the current gap in literature regarding potential mechanisms of disease relapse. This study will have strong implications in drug development of novel therapeutic targets to prevent disease relapse in adult patients with uncontrolled moderate-severe AD.

REFERENCES

1. Silverberg JI, Simpson EL. Associations of childhood eczema severity: a US populationbased study. Dermatitis. 2014;25(3):107-14.

2. Barbarot S, Auziere S, Gadkari A, Girolomoni G, Puig L, Simpson EL, et al. Epidemiology of atopic dermatitis in adults: Results from an international survey. Allergy. 2018;73(6):1284-93.

3. Flohr C, Mann J. New insights into the epidemiology of childhood atopic dermatitis. Allergy. 2014;69(1):3-16.

4. Bantz SK, Zhu Z, Zheng T. The Atopic March: Progression from Atopic Dermatitis to Allergic Rhinitis and Asthma. J Clin Cell Immunol. 2014;5(2).

5. Thomsen SF. Atopic dermatitis: natural history, diagnosis, and treatment. ISRN Allergy. 2014;2014:354250.

6. Silverberg JI. Adult-onset atopic dermatitis. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology: In Practice, The. 2019;7(1):28.

7. Ahn C, Huang W. Clinical Presentation of Atopic Dermatitis. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2017;1027:39-46.

8. Weidinger S, Beck LA, Bieber T, Kabashima K, Irvine AD. Atopic dermatitis. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2018;4(1):1.

9. Abuabara K, Hoffstad O, Troxel AB, Gelfand JM, McCulloch CE, Margolis DJ. Patterns and predictors of atopic dermatitis disease control past childhood: An observational cohort study. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2018;141(2):778-80.e6.

10. Abuabara K, Margolis DJ, Langan SM. The Long-Term Course of Atopic Dermatitis. Dermatol Clin. 2017;35(3):291-7.

11. Margolis JS, Abuabara K, Bilker W, Hoffstad O, Margolis DJ. Persistence of Mild to Moderate Atopic Dermatitis. JAMA Dermatology. 2014;150(6):593-600.

12. Johnson BB, Franco AI, Beck LA, Prezzano JC. Treatment-resistant atopic dermatitis: challenges and solutions. Clin Cosmet Investig Dermatol. 2019;12:181-92.

13. Czarnowicki T, He H, Krueger JG, Guttman-Yassky E. Atopic dermatitis endotypes and implications for targeted therapeutics. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2019;143(1):1-11.

14. Bieber T. Interleukin-13: Targeting an underestimated cytokine in atopic dermatitis. Allergy. 2020;75(1):54-62.

15. Ogonowska P, Gilaberte Y, Barańska-Rybak W, Nakonieczna J. Colonization With Staphylococcus aureus in Atopic Dermatitis Patients: Attempts to Reveal the Unknown. Front Microbiol. 2020;11:567090.

16. Thibodeaux Q, Smith MP, Ly K, Beck K, Liao W, Bhutani T. A review of dupilumab in the treatment of atopic diseases. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2019;15(9):2129-39.

17. Simpson EL, Bieber T, Guttman-Yassky E, Beck LA, Blauvelt A, Cork MJ, et al. Two Phase 3 Trials of Dupilumab versus Placebo in Atopic Dermatitis. N Engl J Med. 2016;375(24):2335-48.

18. de Bruin-Weller M, Merola JF, Hong CH, Baldrich ES, Ettler K, Sierka D, et al. Efficacy of Dupilumab in Atopic Dermatitis: The Patient's Perspective. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb). 2021;11(6):2123-31.

19. Sacotte R, Silverberg JI. Epidemiology of adult atopic dermatitis. Clin Dermatol. 2018;36(5):595-605.

20. Cheng J, Wu JJ, Han G. Epidemiology and Characterization of Atopic Dermatitis in East Asian Populations: A Systematic Review. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb). 2021;11(3):707-17.

21. Sanyal RD, Pavel AB, Glickman J, Chan TC, Zheng X, Zhang N, et al. Atopic dermatitis in African American patients is T(H)2/T(H)22-skewed with T(H)1/T(H)17 attenuation. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2019;122(1):99-110.e6.

22. Chiesa Fuxench ZC, Block JK, Boguniewicz M, Boyle J, Fonacier L, Gelfand JM, et al. Atopic Dermatitis in America Study: A Cross-Sectional Study Examining the Prevalence and Disease Burden of Atopic Dermatitis in the US Adult Population. J Invest Dermatol. 2019;139(3):583-90.

23. Langan SM, Mulick AR, Rutter CE, Silverwood Richard J, Asher I, García-Marcos L, et al. Trends in eczema prevalence in children and adolescents: A Global Asthma Network Phase I Study. Clinical & Experimental Allergy. 2023;53(3):337-52.

24. Lee HH, Patel KR, Singam V, Rastogi S, Silverberg JI. A systematic review and metaanalysis of the prevalence and phenotype of adult-onset atopic dermatitis. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2019;80(6):1526-32.e7.

25. Silverberg JI, Vakharia PP, Chopra R, Sacotte R, Patel N, Immaneni S, et al. Phenotypical Differences of Childhood- and Adult-Onset Atopic Dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2018;6(4):1306-12.

26. Megna M, Patruno C, Balato A, Rongioletti F, Stingeni L, Balato N. An Italian multicentre study on adult atopic dermatitis: persistent versus adult-onset disease. Arch Dermatol Res. 2017;309(6):443-52.

27. Megna M, Napolitano M, Patruno C, Villani A, Balato A, Monfrecola G, et al. Systemic Treatment of Adult Atopic Dermatitis: A Review. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb). 2017;7(1):1-23.

28. Kalamaha K, Reis E, Newton S, Roche C, Julson J, Fernandes H, et al. Atopic dermatitis: a review of evolving targeted therapies. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2019;15(3):275-88.

29. Elmose C, Thomsen SF. Twin Studies of Atopic Dermatitis: Interpretations and Applications in the Filaggrin Era. J Allergy (Cairo). 2015;2015:902359.

30. Sandilands A, Sutherland C, Irvine AD, McLean WH. Filaggrin in the frontline: role in skin barrier function and disease. J Cell Sci. 2009;122(Pt 9):1285-94.

31. Čepelak I, Dodig S, Pavić I. Filaggrin and atopic march. Biochem Med (Zagreb). 2019;29(2):020501.

32. Brown SJ. What Have We Learned from GWAS for Atopic Dermatitis? J Invest Dermatol. 2021;141(1):19-22.

33. Weidinger S, O'Sullivan M, Illig T, Baurecht H, Depner M, Rodriguez E, et al. Filaggrin mutations, atopic eczema, hay fever, and asthma in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008;121(5):1203-9.e1.

34. Kusunoki T, Okafuji I, Yoshioka T, Saito M, Nishikomori R, Heike T, et al. SPINK5 polymorphism is associated with disease severity and food allergy in children with atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005;115(3):636-8.

35. Furue K, Ito T, Tsuji G, Ulzii D, Vu YH, Kido-Nakahara M, et al. The IL-13-OVOL1-FLG axis in atopic dermatitis. Immunology. 2019;158(4):281-6.

36. Paternoster L, Standl M, Waage J, Baurecht H, Hotze M, Strachan DP, et al. Multi-ancestry genome-wide association study of 21,000 cases and 95,000 controls identifies new risk loci for atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet. 2015;47(12):1449-56.

37. Kim J, Kim BE, Leung DYM. Pathophysiology of atopic dermatitis: Clinical implications. Allergy Asthma Proc. 2019;40(2):84-92.

38. Ebina-Shibuya R, Leonard WJ. Role of thymic stromal lymphopoietin in allergy and beyond. Nat Rev Immunol. 2023;23(1):24-37.

39. Soumelis V, Reche PA, Kanzler H, Yuan W, Edward G, Homey B, et al. Human epithelial cells trigger dendritic cell mediated allergic inflammation by producing TSLP. Nat Immunol. 2002;3(7):673-80.

40. Vu AT, Baba T, Chen X, Le TA, Kinoshita H, Xie Y, et al. Staphylococcus aureus membrane and diacylated lipopeptide induce thymic stromal lymphopoietin in keratinocytes through the Toll-like receptor 2-Toll-like receptor 6 pathway. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;126(5):985-93, 93.e1-3.

41. Clausen ML, Kezic S, Olesen CM, Agner T. Cytokine concentration across the stratum corneum in atopic dermatitis and healthy controls. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):21895.

42. Tatsuno K, Fujiyama T, Yamaguchi H, Waki M, Tokura Y. TSLP Directly Interacts with Skin-Homing Th2 Cells Highly Expressing its Receptor to Enhance IL-4 Production in Atopic Dermatitis. J Invest Dermatol. 2015;135(12):3017-24.

43. Kitajima M, Kubo M, Ziegler SF, Suzuki H. Critical Role of TSLP Receptor on CD4 T Cells for Exacerbation of Skin Inflammation. J Immunol. 2020;205(1):27-35.

44. Facheris P, Jeffery J, Del Duca E, Guttman-Yassky E. The translational revolution in atopic dermatitis: the paradigm shift from pathogenesis to treatment. Cell Mol Immunol. 2023;20(5):448-74.

45. Kwatra SG, Misery L, Clibborn C, Steinhoff M. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of itch and pain in atopic dermatitis and implications for novel therapeutics. Clin Transl Immunology. 2022;11(5):e1390.

46. Pfalzgraff A, Brandenburg K, Weindl G. Antimicrobial Peptides and Their Therapeutic Potential for Bacterial Skin Infections and Wounds. Front Pharmacol. 2018;9:281.

47. Byrd AL, Belkaid Y, Segre JA. The human skin microbiome. Nature Reviews Microbiology. 2018;16(3):143-55.

48. Grice EA, Segre JA. The skin microbiome. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2011;9(4):244-53.

49. Park HY, Kim CR, Huh IS, Jung MY, Seo EY, Park JH, et al. Staphylococcus aureus Colonization in Acute and Chronic Skin Lesions of Patients with Atopic Dermatitis. Ann Dermatol. 2013;25(4):410-6.

50. Leyden JJ, Marples RR, Kligman AM. Staphylococcus aureus in the lesions of atopic dermatitis. Br J Dermatol. 1974;90(5):525-30.

51. Chen YE, Fischbach MA, Belkaid Y. Skin microbiota-host interactions. Nature. 2018;553(7689):427-36.

52. Alsterholm M, Strömbeck L, Ljung A, Karami N, Widjestam J, Gillstedt M, et al. Variation in Staphylococcus aureus Colonization in Relation to Disease Severity in Adults with Atopic Dermatitis during a Five-month Follow-up. Acta Derm Venereol. 2017;97(7):802-7.

53. Gong JQ, Lin L, Lin T, Hao F, Zeng FQ, Bi ZG, et al. Skin colonization by Staphylococcus aureus in patients with eczema and atopic dermatitis and relevant combined topical therapy: a double-blind multicentre randomized controlled trial. Br J Dermatol. 2006;155(4):680-7.

54. Pascolini C, Sinagra J, Pecetta S, Bordignon V, De Santis A, Cilli L, et al. Molecular and immunological characterization of Staphylococcus aureus in pediatric atopic dermatitis: implications for prophylaxis and clinical management. Clin Dev Immunol. 2011;2011:718708.

55. Byrd AL, Deming C, Cassidy SKB, Harrison OJ, Ng WI, Conlan S, et al. Staphylococcus aureus and Staphylococcus epidermidis strain diversity underlying pediatric atopic dermatitis. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9(397).

56. Ogonowska P, Szymczak K, Empel J, Urbaś M, Woźniak-Pawlikowska A, Barańska-Rybak W, et al. Staphylococcus aureus from Atopic Dermatitis Patients: Its Genetic Structure and Susceptibility to Phototreatment. Microbiol Spectr. 2023;11(3):e0459822.

57. Totté JE, van der Feltz WT, Hennekam M, van Belkum A, van Zuuren EJ, Pasmans SG. Prevalence and odds of Staphylococcus aureus carriage in atopic dermatitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Dermatol. 2016;175(4):687-95.

58. Nakatsuji T, Chen TH, Narala S, Chun KA, Two AM, Yun T, et al. Antimicrobials from human skin commensal bacteria protect against Staphylococcus aureus and are deficient in atopic dermatitis. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9(378).

59. Kong HH, Oh J, Deming C, Conlan S, Grice EA, Beatson MA, et al. Temporal shifts in the skin microbiome associated with disease flares and treatment in children with atopic dermatitis. Genome Res. 2012;22(5):850-9.

60. Oliveira D, Borges A, Simões M. Staphylococcus aureus Toxins and Their Molecular Activity in Infectious Diseases. Toxins (Basel). 2018;10(6).

61. Joo HS, Otto M. Mechanisms of resistance to antimicrobial peptides in staphylococci. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015;1848(11 Pt B):3055-61.

62. Gonzalez T, Stevens ML, Baatyrbek Kyzy A, Alarcon R, He H, Kroner JW, et al. Biofilm propensity of Staphylococcus aureus skin isolates is associated with increased atopic dermatitis severity and barrier dysfunction in the MPAACH pediatric cohort. Allergy. 2021;76(1):302-13.

63. Muhammad MH, Idris AL, Fan X, Guo Y, Yu Y, Jin X, et al. Beyond Risk: Bacterial Biofilms and Their Regulating Approaches. Front Microbiol. 2020;11:928.

64. Blicharz L, Rudnicka L, Samochocki Z. Staphylococcus aureus: an underestimated factor in the pathogenesis of atopic dermatitis? Postepy Dermatol Alergol. 2019;36(1):11-7.

65. Xu SX, McCormick JK. Staphylococcal superantigens in colonization and disease. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2012;2:52.

66. Hwang J-R, Byeon Y, Kim D, Park S-G. Recent insights of T cell receptor-mediated signaling pathways for T cell activation and development. Experimental & Molecular Medicine. 2020;52(5):750-61.

67. Deacy AM, Gan SK, Derrick JP. Superantigen Recognition and Interactions: Functions, Mechanisms and Applications. Front Immunol. 2021;12:731845.

68. Lin YT, Wang CT, Hsu CT, Wang LF, Shau WY, Yang YH, et al. Differential susceptibility to staphylococcal superantigen (SsAg)-induced apoptosis of CD4+ T cells from atopic dermatitis patients and healthy subjects: the inhibitory effect of IL-4 on SsAg-induced apoptosis. J Immunol. 2003;171(2):1102-8.

69. Zollner TM, Wichelhaus TA, Hartung A, Von Mallinckrodt C, Wagner TO, Brade V, et al. Colonization with superantigen-producing Staphylococcus aureus is associated with increased severity of atopic dermatitis. Clin Exp Allergy. 2000;30(7):994-1000.

70. Skov L, Olsen JV, Giorno R, Schlievert PM, Baadsgaard O, Leung DY. Application of Staphylococcal enterotoxin B on normal and atopic skin induces up-regulation of T cells by a superantigen-mediated mechanism. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2000;105(4):820-6.

71. Laouini D, Kawamoto S, Yalcindag A, Bryce P, Mizoguchi E, Oettgen H, et al. Epicutaneous sensitization with superantigen induces allergic skin inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2003;112(5):981-7.

72. Bunikowski R, Mielke ME, Skarabis H, Worm M, Anagnostopoulos I, Kolde G, et al. Evidence for a disease-promoting effect of Staphylococcus aureus-derived exotoxins in atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2000;105(4):814-9.

73. Yu J, Oh MH, Park JU, Myers AC, Dong C, Zhu Z, et al. Epicutaneous exposure to staphylococcal superantigen enterotoxin B enhances allergic lung inflammation via an IL-17A dependent mechanism. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):e39032.

74. Ando T, Matsumoto K, Namiranian S, Yamashita H, Glatthorn H, Kimura M, et al. Mast cells are required for full expression of allergen/SEB-induced skin inflammation. J Invest Dermatol. 2013;133(12):2695-705.

75. Breuer K, Wittmann M, Bösche B, Kapp A, Werfel T. Severe atopic dermatitis is associated with sensitization to staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB). Allergy. 2000;55(6):551-5.

76. Kappler J, Kotzin B, Herron L, Gelfand EW, Bigler RD, Boylston A, et al. Vβ-specific stimulation of human T cells by staphylococcal toxins. Science. 1989;244(4906):811-3.

77. Hon KL, Tsang KYC, Kung JSC, Leung TF, Lam CWK, Wong CK. Clinical Signs, Staphylococcus and Atopic Eczema-Related Seromarkers. Molecules. 2017;22(2):291.

78. Sans-De San Nicolàs L, Figueras-Nart I, Bonfill-Ortí M, De Jesús-Gil C, García-Jiménez I, Guilabert A, et al. SEB-induced IL-13 production in CLA+ memory T cells defines Th2 high and Th2 low responders in atopic dermatitis. Allergy.n/a(n/a).

79. Niebuhr M, Mamerow D, Heratizadeh A, Satzger I, Werfel T. Staphylococcal α-toxin induces a higher T cell proliferation and interleukin-31 in atopic dermatitis. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2011;156(4):412-5.

80. Kasraie S, Niebuhr M, Werfel T. Interleukin (IL)-31 induces pro-inflammatory cytokines in human monocytes and macrophages following stimulation with staphylococcal exotoxins. Allergy. 2010;65(6):712-21.

81. Sonkoly E. IL-31: a new link between T cells and pruritus in atopic skin inflammation. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2006;117(2):411.

82. Walker JA, McKenzie ANJ. T(H)2 cell development and function. Nat Rev Immunol. 2018;18(2):121-33.

83. Zhu J. T helper 2 (Th2) cell differentiation, type 2 innate lymphoid cell (ILC2) development and regulation of interleukin-4 (IL-4) and IL-13 production. Cytokine. 2015;75(1):14-24.

84. Walker JA. TH2 cell development and function. Nature Reviews Immunology. 2018;18(2):121.

85. Comeau MR, Ziegler SF. The influence of TSLP on the allergic response. Mucosal Immunol. 2010;3(2):138-47.

86. Liu YJ. TSLP in epithelial cell and dendritic cell cross talk. Adv Immunol. 2009;101:1-25.

87. Turner MJ, Zhou B. A new itch to scratch for TSLP. Trends Immunol. 2014;35(2):49-50.

88. Roediger B, Kyle R, Le Gros G, Weninger W. Dermal group 2 innate lymphoid cells in atopic dermatitis and allergy. Curr Opin Immunol. 2014;31:108-14.

89. He R, Oyoshi MK, Garibyan L, Kumar L, Ziegler SF, Geha RS. TSLP acts on infiltrating effector T cells to drive allergic skin inflammation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(33):11875-80.

90. Yoo J, Omori M, Gyarmati D, Zhou B, Aye T, Brewer A, et al. Spontaneous atopic dermatitis in mice expressing an inducible thymic stromal lymphopoietin transgene specifically in the skin. J Exp Med. 2005;202(4):541-9.

91. He R, Geha RS. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010;1183:13-24.

92. Nygaard U, Hvid M, Johansen C, Buchner M, Fölster-Holst R, Deleuran M, et al. TSLP, IL-31, IL-33 and sST2 are new biomarkers in endophenotypic profiling of adult and childhood atopic dermatitis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2016;30(11):1930-8.

93. Lee EB, Kim KW, Hong JY, Jee HM, Sohn MH, Kim KE. Increased serum thymic stromal lymphopoietin in children with atopic dermatitis. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2010;21(2 Pt 2):e457-60.

94. Hvid M, Vestergaard C, Kemp K, Christensen GB, Deleuran B, Deleuran M. IL-25 in atopic dermatitis: a possible link between inflammation and skin barrier dysfunction? J Invest Dermatol. 2011;131(1):150-7.

95. Chan BCL, Lam CWK, Tam LS, Wong CK. IL33: Roles in Allergic Inflammation and Therapeutic Perspectives. Front Immunol. 2019;10:364.

96. Divekar R, Kita H. Recent advances in epithelium-derived cytokines (IL-33, IL-25, and thymic stromal lymphopoietin) and allergic inflammation. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. 2015;15(1):98-103.

97. Savinko T, Matikainen S, Saarialho-Kere U, Lehto M, Wang G, Lehtimäki S, et al. IL-33 and ST2 in atopic dermatitis: expression profiles and modulation by triggering factors. J Invest Dermatol. 2012;132(5):1392-400.

98. Salimi M, Barlow JL, Saunders SP, Xue L, Gutowska-Owsiak D, Wang X, et al. A role for IL-25 and IL-33-driven type-2 innate lymphoid cells in atopic dermatitis. J Exp Med. 2013;210(13):2939-50.

99. Toki S, Goleniewska K, Zhang J, Zhou W, Newcomb DC, Zhou B, et al. TSLP and IL-33 reciprocally promote each other's lung protein expression and ILC2 receptor expression to enhance innate type-2 airway inflammation. Allergy. 2020;75(7):1606-17.

100. Tokura Y, Phadungsaksawasdi P, Ito T. Atopic dermatitis as Th2 disease revisited. Journal of Cutaneous Immunology and Allergy. 2018;1(5):158-64.

101. Xiong N, Fu Y, Hu S, Xia M, Yang J. CCR10 and its ligands in regulation of epithelial immunity and diseases. Protein Cell. 2012;3(8):571-80.

102. Yoshie O, Matsushima K. CCR4 and its ligands: from bench to bedside. Int Immunol. 2015;27(1):11-20.

103. Renert-Yuval Y, Thyssen JP, Bissonnette R, Bieber T, Kabashima K, Hijnen D, et al. Biomarkers in atopic dermatitis-a review on behalf of the International Eczema Council. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2021;147(4):1174-90.e1.

104. Kupczyk M, Kuna P. Targeting the PGD(2)/CRTH2/DP1 Signaling Pathway in Asthma and Allergic Disease: Current Status and Future Perspectives. Drugs. 2017;77(12):1281-94.

105. Wambre E, Bajzik V, DeLong JH, O'Brien K, Nguyen QA, Speake C, et al. A phenotypically and functionally distinct human T(H)2 cell subpopulation is associated with allergic disorders. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9(401).

106. Wambre E, Bajzik V, DeLong JH, O'Brien K, Nguyen Q-A, Speake C, et al. A phenotypically and functionally distinct human TH2 cell subpopulation is associated with allergic disorders. Science translational medicine. 2017;9(401).

107. Bajzik V, DeBerg HA, Garabatos N, Rust BJ, Obrien KK, Nguyen QA, et al. Oral desensitization therapy for peanut allergy induces dynamic changes in peanut-specific immune responses. Allergy. 2022;77(8):2534-48.

108. Monian B, Tu AA, Ruiter B, Morgan DM, Petrossian PM, Smith NP, et al. Peanut oral immunotherapy differentially suppresses clonally distinct subsets of T helper cells. J Clin Invest. 2022;132(2).

109. Bangert C, Rindler K, Krausgruber T, Alkon N, Thaler FM, Kurz H, et al. Persistence of mature dendritic cells, T(H)2A, and Tc2 cells characterize clinically resolved atopic dermatitis under IL-4R α blockade. Sci Immunol. 2021;6(55).

110. Czarnowicki T, Santamaria-Babí LF, Guttman-Yassky E. Circulating CLA+ T cells in atopic dermatitis and their possible role as peripheral biomarkers. Allergy. 2017;72(3):366-72.

111. Czarnowicki T, Gonzalez J, Shemer A, Malajian D, Xu H, Zheng X, et al. Severe atopic dermatitis is characterized by selective expansion of circulating TH2/TC2 and TH22/TC22, but not TH17/TC17, cells within the skin-homing T-cell population. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2015;136(1):104-15.e7.

112. Czarnowicki T, Esaki H, Gonzalez J, Malajian D, Shemer A, Noda S, et al. Early pediatric atopic dermatitis shows only a cutaneous lymphocyte antigen (CLA)(+) TH2/TH1 cell imbalance, whereas adults acquire CLA(+) TH22/TC22 cell subsets. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2015;136(4):941-51.e3.

113. Messing M, Jan-Abu SC, McNagny K. Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells: Central Players in a Recurring Theme of Repair and Regeneration. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(4).

114. Castellanos JG, Longman RS. The balance of power: innate lymphoid cells in tissue inflammation and repair. J Clin Invest. 2019;129(7):2640-50.

115. Sonnet F, Namork E, Stylianou E, Gaare-Olstad I, Huse K, Andorf S, et al. Reduced polyfunctional T cells and increased cellular activation markers in adult allergy patients reporting adverse reactions to food. BMC immunology. 2020;21(1):1-14.

116. Czarnowicki T, He H, Canter T, Han J, Lefferdink R, Erickson T, et al. Evolution of pathologic T-cell subsets in patients with atopic dermatitis from infancy to adulthood. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2020;145(1):215-28.

117. Hijnen D, Knol EF, Gent YY, Giovannone B, Beijn SJ, Kupper TS, et al. CD8(+) T cells in the lesional skin of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis patients are an important source of IFN- γ , IL-13, IL-17, and IL-22. J Invest Dermatol. 2013;133(4):973-9.

118. Khalil S, Bardawil T, Kurban M, Abbas O. Tissue-resident memory T cells in the skin. Inflamm Res. 2020;69(3):245-54.

119. Kim S, Park C, Shin J, Noh J, Kim H, Kim J, et al. 049 Multicytokine-producing tissue resident memory (TRM) cells in atopic dermatitis patient. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2016;136(5):S9.

120. Hijnen D, Knol EF, Gent YY, Giovannone B, Beijn SJ, Kupper TS, et al. CD8+ T cells in the lesional skin of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis patients are an important source of IFN- γ , IL-13, IL-17, and IL-22. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2013;133(4):973-9.

121. Seidel JA, Vukmanovic-Stejic M, Muller-Durovic B, Patel N, Fuentes-Duculan J, Henson SM, et al. Skin resident memory CD8(+) T cells are phenotypically and functionally distinct from circulating populations and lack immediate cytotoxic function. Clin Exp Immunol. 2018;194(1):79-92.

122. Sims JT, Chang CY, Higgs RE, Engle SM, Liu Y, Sissons SE, et al. Insights into adult atopic dermatitis heterogeneity derived from circulating biomarker profiling in patients with moderate-to-severe disease. Exp Dermatol. 2021;30(11):1650-61.

123. van der Velden VH, Laan MP, Baert MR, de Waal Malefyt R, Neijens HJ, Savelkoul HF. Selective development of a strong Th2 cytokine profile in high-risk children who develop atopy: risk factors and regulatory role of IFN-gamma, IL-4 and IL-10. Clin Exp Allergy. 2001;31(7):997-1006.

124. Aleksza M, Lukács A, Antal-Szalmás P, Hunyadi J, Szegedi A. Increased frequency of intracellular interleukin (IL)-13 and IL-10, but not IL-4, expressing CD4+ and CD8+ peripheral T cells of patients with atopic dermatitis. Br J Dermatol. 2002;147(6):1135-41.

125. Nakagawa S, Aiba S, Tagami H. Decreased frequency of interferon-gamma-producing CD4+ cells in the peripheral blood of patients with atopic dermatitis. Exp Dermatol. 1998;7(2-3):112-8.

126. Jung T, Lack G, Schauer U, Uberück W, Renz H, Gelfand EW, et al. Decreased frequency of interferon-gamma- and interleukin-2-producing cells in patients with atopic diseases measured at the single cell level. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1995;96(4):515-27.

127. Machura E, Mazur B, Kwiecień J, Karczewska K. Intracellular production of IL-2, IL-4, IFN-gamma, and TNF-alpha by peripheral blood CD3+ and CD4+ T cells in children with atopic dermatitis. Eur J Pediatr. 2007;166(8):789-95.

128. Antúnez C, Torres MJ, Corzo JL, Pena RR, Mayorga C, Jurado A, et al. Different lymphocyte markers and cytokine expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells in children with acute atopic dermatitis. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr). 2004;32(5):252-8.

129. Kaminishi K, Soma Y, Kawa Y, Mizoguchi M. Flow cytometric analysis of IL-4, IL-13 and IFN-gamma expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells and detection of circulating IL-13 in patients with atopic dermatitis provide evidence for the involvement of type 2 cytokines in the disease. J Dermatol Sci. 2002;29(1):19-25.

130. Brunner PM, Israel A, Zhang N, Leonard A, Wen HC, Huynh T, et al. Early-onset pediatric atopic dermatitis is characterized by T(H)2/T(H)17/T(H)22-centered inflammation and lipid alterations. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2018;141(6):2094-106.

131. Esaki H, Czarnowicki T, Gonzalez J, Oliva M, Talasila S, Haugh I, et al. Accelerated Tcell activation and differentiation of polar subsets characterizes early atopic dermatitis development. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2016;138(5):1473-7.e5.

132. Zhou L, Leonard A, Pavel AB, Malik K, Raja A, Glickman J, et al. Age-specific changes in the molecular phenotype of patients with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2019;144(1):144-56.

133. Weidinger S, Beck LA, Bieber T, Kabashima K, Irvine AD. Atopic dermatitis (Primer). Nature Reviews: Disease Primers. 2018.

134. Brunner PM. Early immunologic changes during the onset of atopic dermatitis. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2019;123(2):152-7.

135. Gittler JK, Shemer A, Suárez-Fariñas M, Fuentes-Duculan J, Gulewicz KJ, Wang CQ, et al. Progressive activation of T(H)2/T(H)22 cytokines and selective epidermal proteins characterizes acute and chronic atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2012;130(6):1344-54.

136. Guttman-Yassky E, Nograles KE, Krueger JG. Contrasting pathogenesis of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis--part I: clinical and pathologic concepts. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2011;127(5):1110-8.

137. Sugita K, Akdis CA. Recent developments and advances in atopic dermatitis and food allergy. Allergol Int. 2020;69(2):204-14.

138. Sakaguchi S, Yamaguchi T, Nomura T, Ono M. Regulatory T Cells and Immune Tolerance. Cell. 2008;133(5):775-87.

139. Ali N, Rosenblum MD. Regulatory T cells in skin. Immunology. 2017;152(3):372-81.

140. Miyara M, Sakaguchi S. Natural regulatory T cells: mechanisms of suppression. Trends Mol Med. 2007;13(3):108-16.

141. Zhou L, Jiang A, Veenstra J, Ozog DM, Mi QS. The Roles of Skin Langerhans Cells in Immune Tolerance and Cancer Immunity. Vaccines (Basel). 2022;10(9).

142. Agrawal R, Wisniewski JA, Woodfolk JA. The role of regulatory T cells in atopic dermatitis. Curr Probl Dermatol. 2011;41:112-24.

143. d'Hennezel E, Bin Dhuban K, Torgerson T, Piccirillo CA. The immunogenetics of immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X linked (IPEX) syndrome. J Med Genet. 2012;49(5):291-302.

144. Fyhrquist N, Lehtimäki S, Lahl K, Savinko T, Lappeteläinen A-M, Sparwasser T, et al. Foxp3+ Cells Control Th2 Responses in a Murine Model of Atopic Dermatitis. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2012;132(6):1672-80.

145. Samochocki Z, Alifier M, Bodera P, Jeziorkowska R, Rosiak E, Jurkiewicz B, et al. T-regulatory cells in severe atopic dermatitis: alterations related to cytokines and other lymphocyte subpopulations. Arch Dermatol Res. 2012;304(10):795-801.

146. Gáspár K, Baráth S, Nagy G, Mócsai G, Gyimesi E, Szodoray P, et al. Regulatory T-cell subsets with acquired functional impairment: important indicators of disease severity in atopic dermatitis. Acta Derm Venereol. 2015;95(2):151-5.

147. Roesner LM. Foxp3 regulatory T cells are expanded in severe atopic dermatitis patients. Allergy. 2015;70(12):1656.

148. Reefer AJ, Satinover SM, Solga MD, Lannigan JA, Nguyen JT, Wilson BB, et al. Analysis of CD25hiCD4+ "regulatory" T-cell subtypes in atopic dermatitis reveals a novel T(H)2-like population. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2008;121(2):415-22.e3.

149. Verhagen J, Akdis M, Traidl-Hoffmann C, Schmid-Grendelmeier P, Hijnen D, Knol EF, et al. Absence of T-regulatory cell expression and function in atopic dermatitis skin. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology. 2006;117(1):176-83.

150. Ou LS, Goleva E, Hall C, Leung DY. T regulatory cells in atopic dermatitis and subversion of their activity by superantigens. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2004;113(4):756-63.

151. Napolitano M, di Vico F, Ruggiero A, Fabbrocini G, Patruno C. The hidden sentinel of the skin: An overview on the role of interleukin-13 in atopic dermatitis. Front Med (Lausanne). 2023;10:1165098.

152. Lamiable O, Brewerton M, Ronchese F. IL-13 in dermal type-2 dendritic cell specialization: From function to therapeutic targeting. Eur J Immunol. 2022;52(7):1047-57.

153. Berdyshev E, Goleva E, Bronova I, Dyjack N, Rios C, Jung J, et al. Lipid abnormalities in atopic skin are driven by type 2 cytokines. JCI Insight. 2018;3(4).

154. Purwar R, Werfel T, Wittmann M. IL-13-stimulated human keratinocytes preferentially attract CD4+CCR4+ T cells: possible role in atopic dermatitis. J Invest Dermatol. 2006;126(5):1043-51.

155. Pappa G, Sgouros D, Theodoropoulos K, Kanelleas A, Bozi E, Gregoriou S, et al. The IL-4/-13 Axis and Its Blocking in the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis. J Clin Med. 2022;11(19).

156. Oetjen LK, Mack MR, Feng J, Whelan TM, Niu H, Guo CJ, et al. Sensory Neurons Co-opt Classical Immune Signaling Pathways to Mediate Chronic Itch. Cell. 2017;171(1):217-28.e13.

157. Maintz L, Bieber T, Bissonnette R, Jack C. Measuring Atopic Dermatitis Disease Severity: The Potential for Electronic Tools to Benefit Clinical Care. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2021;9(4):1473-86.e2.

158. Eichenfield LF, Tom WL, Berger TG, Krol A, Paller AS, Schwarzenberger K, et al. Guidelines of care for the management of atopic dermatitis: section 2. Management and treatment of atopic dermatitis with topical therapies. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2014;71(1):116-32.

159. Coondoo A, Phiske M, Verma S, Lahiri K. Side-effects of topical steroids: A long overdue revisit. Indian Dermatol Online J. 2014;5(4):416-25.

160. Grundmann SA, Beissert S. Modern aspects of phototherapy for atopic dermatitis. J Allergy (Cairo). 2012;2012:121797.

161. Wollenberg A, Kinberger M, Arents B, Aszodi N, Avila Valle G, Barbarot S, et al. European guideline (EuroGuiDerm) on atopic eczema: part I - systemic therapy. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2022;36(9):1409-31.

162. Gelbard CM, Hebert AA. New and emerging trends in the treatment of atopic dermatitis. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2008;2:387-92.

163. Tedesco D, Haragsim L. Cyclosporine: a review. J Transplant. 2012;2012:230386.

164. Ross SH, Cantrell DA. Signaling and Function of Interleukin-2 in T Lymphocytes. Annu Rev Immunol. 2018;36:411-33.

165. Schmitt J, Schmitt N, Meurer M. Cyclosporin in the treatment of patients with atopic eczema - a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2007;21(5):606-19.

166. Hijnen DJ, ten Berge O, Timmer-de Mik L, Bruijnzeel-Koomen CA, de Bruin-Weller MS. Efficacy and safety of long-term treatment with cyclosporin A for atopic dermatitis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2007;21(1):85-9.

167. Khattri S, Shemer A, Rozenblit M, Dhingra N, Czarnowicki T, Finney R, et al. Cyclosporine in patients with atopic dermatitis modulates activated inflammatory pathways and reverses epidermal pathology. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014;133(6):1626-34.

168. Bieber T. Atopic dermatitis: an expanding therapeutic pipeline for a complex disease. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2022;21(1):21-40.

169. Ou Z, Chen C, Chen A, Yang Y, Zhou W. Adverse events of Dupilumab in adults with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: A meta-analysis. Int Immunopharmacol. 2018;54:303-10.

170. Hamilton JD, Suárez-Fariñas M, Dhingra N, Cardinale I, Li X, Kostic A, et al. Dupilumab improves the molecular signature in skin of patients with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014;134(6):1293-300.

171. Bakker DS, van der Wal MM, Heeb LEM, Giovannone B, Asamoah M, Delemarre EM, et al. Early and Long-Term Effects of Dupilumab Treatment on Circulating T-Cell Functions in Patients with Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis. J Invest Dermatol. 2021;141(8):1943-53.e13.

172. Miyamoto S, Imai Y, Natsuaki M, Yamanishi K, Kanazawa N. Long-term Remission of Atopic Dermatitis after Discontinuation of Dupilumab. Acta Derm Venereol. 2022;102:adv00731. 173. Farrell AM, Antrobus P, Simpson D, Powell S, Chapel HM, Ferry BL. A rapid flow cytometric assay to detect CD4+ and CD8+ T-helper (Th) 0, Th1 and Th2 cells in whole blood and its application to study cytokine levels in atopic dermatitis before and after cyclosporin therapy. Br J Dermatol. 2001;144(1):24-33.

174. Rafiq K, Bullens DM, Kasran A, Lorré K, Ceuppens JL, Van Gool SW. Differences in regulatory pathways identify subgroups of T cell-derived Th2 cytokines. Clin Exp Immunol. 2000;121(1):86-93.

175. Junttila IS. Tuning the Cytokine Responses: An Update on Interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-13 Receptor Complexes. Front Immunol. 2018;9:888.

176. De Bruin-Weller M, Biedermann T, Bissonnette R, Deleuran M, Foley P, Girolomoni G, et al. Treat-to-Target in Atopic Dermatitis: An International Consensus on a Set of Core Decision Points for Systemic Therapies. Acta Derm Venereol. 2021;101(2):adv00402.

177. Czarnowicki T, He H, Canter T, Han J, Lefferdink R, Erickson T, et al. Evolution of pathologic T-cell subsets in patients with atopic dermatitis from infancy to adulthood. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2020;145(1):215-28.

178. Akdis M, Akdis CA, Weigl L, Disch R, Blaser K. Skin-homing, CLA+ memory T cells are activated in atopic dermatitis and regulate IgE by an IL-13-dominated cytokine pattern: IgG4 counter-regulation by CLA- memory T cells. J Immunol. 1997;159(9):4611-9.

179. Ariëns LFM, van der Schaft J, Bakker DS, Balak D, Romeijn MLE, Kouwenhoven T, et al. Dupilumab is very effective in a large cohort of difficult-to-treat adult atopic dermatitis patients: First clinical and biomarker results from the BioDay registry. Allergy. 2020;75(1):116-26.

180. Blauvelt A, de Bruin-Weller M, Gooderham M, Cather JC, Weisman J, Pariser D, et al. Long-term management of moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis with dupilumab and concomitant topical corticosteroids (LIBERTY AD CHRONOS): a 1-year, randomised, double-blinded, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2017;389(10086):2287-303.

181. de Bruin-Weller M, Thaçi D, Smith CH, Reich K, Cork MJ, Radin A, et al. Dupilumab with concomitant topical corticosteroid treatment in adults with atopic dermatitis with an inadequate response or intolerance to ciclosporin A or when this treatment is medically inadvisable: a placebo-controlled, randomized phase III clinical trial (LIBERTY AD CAFÉ). Br J Dermatol. 2018;178(5):1083-101.

182. de Wijs LEM, Bosma AL, Erler NS, Hollestein LM, Gerbens LAA, Middelkamp-Hup MA, et al. Effectiveness of dupilumab treatment in 95 patients with atopic dermatitis: daily practice data. Br J Dermatol. 2020;182(2):418-26.

183. Tauber M, Apoil PA, Richet C, Laurent J, De Bonnecaze G, Mouchon E, et al. Effect of dupilumab on atopic manifestations in patients treated for atopic dermatitis in real-life practice. British Journal of Dermatology. 2019;180(6):1551-2.

184. Worm M, Simpson EL, Thaçi D, Bissonnette R, Lacour JP, Beissert S, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Multiple Dupilumab Dose Regimens After Initial Successful Treatment in Patients With Atopic Dermatitis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Dermatol. 2020;156(2):131-43.

185. He R, Oyoshi MK, Wang JY, Hodge MR, Jin H, Geha RS. The prostaglandin D₂ receptor CRTH2 is important for allergic skin inflammation after epicutaneous antigen challenge. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;126(4):784-90.

186. Chang JE, Doherty TA, Baum R, Broide D. Prostaglandin D2 regulates human type 2 innate lymphoid cell chemotaxis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014;133(3):899-901.e3.

187. Cosmi L, Annunziato F, Galli MIG, Maggi RME, Nagata K, Romagnani S. CRTH2 is the most reliable marker for the detection of circulating human type 2 Th and type 2 T cytotoxic cells in health and disease. Eur J Immunol. 2000;30(10):2972-9.

Liu H, Deepak R, Shiriaeva A, Gati C, Batyuk A, Hu H, et al. Molecular basis for lipid recognition by the prostaglandin D(2) receptor CRTH2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2021;118(32).
Xue L, Gyles SL, Wettey FR, Gazi L, Townsend E, Hunter MG, et al. Prostaglandin D2 causes preferential induction of proinflammatory Th2 cytokine production through an action on chemoattractant receptor-like molecule expressed on Th2 cells. J Immunol. 2005;175(10):6531-6.
Klicznik MM, Morawski PA, Höllbacher B, Varkhande SR, Motley SJ, Kuri-Cervantes L,

et al. \Human CD4(+)CD103(+) cutaneous resident memory T cells are found in the circulation of healthy individuals. Sci Immunol. 2019;4(37).

191. Badloe FMS, De Vriese S, Coolens K, Schmidt-Weber CB, Ring J, Gutermuth J, et al. IgE autoantibodies and autoreactive T cells and their role in children and adults with atopic dermatitis. Clin Transl Allergy. 2020;10:34.

192. Wollenberg A, Thomsen SF, Lacour JP, Jaumont X, Lazarewicz S. Targeting immunoglobulin E in atopic dermatitis: A review of the existing evidence. World Allergy Organ J. 2021;14(3):100519.

193. De Bruyn Carlier T, Badloe FMS, Ring J, Gutermuth J, Kortekaas Krohn I. Autoreactive T cells and their role in atopic dermatitis. J Autoimmun. 2021;120:102634.

194. Boehme SA, Franz-Bacon K, Chen EP, Sásik R, Sprague LJ, Ly TW, et al. A small molecule CRTH2 antagonist inhibits FITC-induced allergic cutaneous inflammation. Int Immunol. 2009;21(1):81-93.

195. Agnihotri G, Lio PA. Revisiting Therapies for Atopic Dermatitis that Failed Clinical Trials. Clinical Drug Investigation. 2020;40(5):421-31.

196. Maspero J, Agache IO, Kamei T, Yoshida M, Boone B, Felser JM, et al. Long-term safety and exploratory efficacy of fevipiprant in patients with inadequately controlled asthma: the SPIRIT randomised clinical trial. Respiratory Research. 2021;22(1):311.

197. Saraiva DP, Jacinto A, Borralho P, Braga S, Cabral MG. HLA-DR in Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes Predicts Breast Cancer Patients' Response to Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy. Front Immunol. 2018;9:2605.

198. Wu J, Liu Z, Zhang Y, Wang L, Feng D, Liu L, et al. Age-dependent alterations of HLA-DR expression and effect of lipopolysaccharide on cytokine secretion of peripheral blood mononuclear cells in the elderly population. Scand J Immunol. 2011;74(6):603-8.

199. Hulstaert F, Hannet I, Deneys V, Munhyeshuli V, Reichert T, De Bruyere M, et al. Agerelated changes in human blood lymphocyte subpopulations. II. Varying kinetics of percentage and absolute count measurements. Clin Immunol Immunopathol. 1994;70(2):152-8.

200. Caproni M, Antiga E, Torchia D, Volpi W, Barletta E, Gitti G, et al. FoxP3-expressing T regulatory cells in atopic dermatitis lesions. Allergy Asthma Proc. 2007;28(5):525-8.

201. Szegedi A, Baráth S, Nagy G, Szodoray P, Gál M, Sipka S, et al. Regulatory T cells in atopic dermatitis: epidermal dendritic cell clusters may contribute to their local expansion. Br J Dermatol. 2009;160(5):984-93.

202. Li Y, Xu W, Yao J, Cheng H, Sun X, Li L. Correlation of Blood FoxP3+ Regulatory T Cells and Disease Activity of Atopic Dermatitis. J Immunol Res. 2019;2019:1820182.

203. Teraki Y, Hotta T, Shiohara T. Increased circulating skin-homing cutaneous lymphocyteassociated antigen (CLA)+ type 2 cytokine-producing cells, and decreased CLA+ type 1 cytokineproducing cells in atopic dermatitis. British Journal of Dermatology. 2000;143(2):373-8.

204. Moyle M, Cevikbas F, Harden JL, Guttman-Yassky E. Understanding the immune landscape in atopic dermatitis: The era of biologics and emerging therapeutic approaches. Experimental Dermatology. 2019;28(7):756-68.

205. Ouyang W, O'Garra A. IL-10 Family Cytokines IL-10 and IL-22: from Basic Science to Clinical Translation. Immunity. 2019;50(4):871-91.

206. Larochette V, Miot C, Poli C, Beaumont E, Roingeard P, Fickenscher H, et al. IL-26, a Cytokine With Roles in Extracellular DNA-Induced Inflammation and Microbial Defense. Front Immunol. 2019;10:204.

207. Chi X, Jin W, Zhao X, Xie T, Shao J, Bai X, et al. ROR γ t expression in mature T(H)17 cells safeguards their lineage specification by inhibiting conversion to T(H)2 cells. Sci Adv. 2022;8(34):eabn7774.

208. Choy DF, Hart KM, Borthwick LA, Shikotra A, Nagarkar DR, Siddiqui S, et al. TH2 and TH17 inflammatory pathways are reciprocally regulated in asthma. Sci Transl Med. 2015;7(301):301ra129.

209. Lynch JP, Ferreira MA, Phipps S. Th2/Th17 reciprocal regulation: twists and turns in the complexity of asthma phenotypes. Ann Transl Med. 2016;4(Suppl 1):S59.

210. Kidd P. Th1/Th2 balance: the hypothesis, its limitations, and implications for health and disease. Altern Med Rev. 2003;8(3):223-46.

211. Kong HH. Sharing is caring? Skin microbiome insights into staphylococci in patients with atopic dermatitis and caregivers. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2022;150(4):793-5.

212. Kuehnert MJ, Kruszon-Moran D, Hill HA, McQuillan G, McAllister SK, Fosheim G, et al. Prevalence of Staphylococcus aureus nasal colonization in the United States, 2001-2002. J Infect Dis. 2006;193(2):172-9.

213. Simpson EL, Villarreal M, Jepson B, Rafaels N, David G, Hanifin J, et al. Patients with Atopic Dermatitis Colonized with Staphylococcus aureus Have a Distinct Phenotype and Endotype. J Invest Dermatol. 2018;138(10):2224-33.

214. Kobayashi T, Glatz M, Horiuchi K, Kawasaki H, Akiyama H, Kaplan DH, et al. Dysbiosis and Staphylococcus aureus Colonization Drives Inflammation in Atopic Dermatitis. Immunity. 2015;42(4):756-66.

215. Guttman-Yassky E, Simpson EL, Reich K, Kabashima K, Igawa K, Suzuki T, et al. An anti-OX40 antibody to treat moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis: a multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2b study. Lancet. 2023;401(10372):204-14.

216. Lé AM, Torres T. OX40-OX40L Inhibition for the Treatment of Atopic Dermatitis-Focus on Rocatinlimab and Amlitelimab. Pharmaceutics. 2022;14(12).

217. De Vuyst E, Salmon M, Evrard C, Lambert de Rouvroit C, Poumay Y. Atopic Dermatitis Studies through In Vitro Models. Front Med (Lausanne). 2017;4:119.

218. Campbell DE, Kemp AS. Proliferation and production of interferon-gamma (IFN-gamma) and IL-4 in response to Staphylococcus aureus and staphylococcal superantigen in childhood atopic dermatitis. Clin Exp Immunol. 1997;107(2):392-7.

219. Lin YT. Skinhoming CD4 Foxp3 T cells exert Th2like function after staphylococcal superantigen stimulation in atopic dermatitis patients. Clinical and Experimental Allergy. 2011;41(4):516.